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For Jason and Nick







Let me lament,
With tears as sovereign as the blood of hearts,
That thou, my brother, my competitor
In top of all design, my mate in empire,
Friend and companion in the front of war,
The arm of mine own body, and the heart
Where mine his thoughts did kindle,—that our stars,
Unreconcilable, should divide
Our equalness to this.


—Antony and Cleopatra, 5.1


How all occasions do inform against me
And spur my dull revenge!
… O, from this time forth,
My thoughts be bloody, or be nothing worth!


—Hamlet, 4.4







For Jason and Nick








FOREWORD


Filled with ambition, rivalry, betrayal, and tragedy, this story of the celebrated Shakespearean actor Junius Brutus Booth and the two sons, Edwin and John Wilkes, who competed to wear his crown, is as gripping as a fine work of fiction. Yet, given the role that the younger son played in murdering President Abraham Lincoln, My Thoughts Be Bloody is simultaneously an important work of history—the best account I have ever read of the complex forces that led John Wilkes Booth to carry a gun into Ford’s Theatre on April 14, 1865.


Spanning nearly three-quarters of a century, the book carries us back to early nineteenth-century London, where Junius Booth, handsome, tormented, and brilliant, is the toast of the town. Married with a small child, he falls in love with nineteen-year-old Mary Ann Holmes. Abandoning his family, he flees with his mistress to America, where he begins a new family and becomes a towering star, traveling from one city to the next, delivering passionate performances of Richard III, Hamlet, and King Lear.


Early on, Nora Titone convincingly argues, two of Junius’s four surviving sons give promise of following in their father’s footsteps. But which of the two would succeed—the more intelligent, sensitive Edwin or the handsomer, more aggressive John Wilkes—is unclear. When Junius chooses the older son, Edwin, to accompany him on the road, a fierce jealousy begins to fester in John Wilkes. Though Edwin finds traveling with his hard-drinking father difficult, he begins to experience the magic of the theater. On his own, he memorizes long passages from Shakespeare; he absorbs his father’s gestures, accents, and facial expressions. He hungers for the fame his father has achieved.


Edwin’s chance comes when Junius suddenly dies. As throngs of mourners gather for the funeral procession, the nineteen-year-old Edwin assumes his father’s mantle and soon becomes a greater star than Junius ever was. In contrast to his father’s bombastic style, he mesmerizes audiences with the naturalness of his performances and his conversational tone. Critics rate his first performance as Richard III “a blaze of genius.” Moving from one triumph to another, he becomes a wealthy man when still in his early twenties.


When John Wilkes comes of age, he too becomes an actor. His handsome features and well-proportioned body hold promise, but he possesses neither the talent nor the discipline to become a star. Edwin fears that his brother will dilute the family name and that two Booths on the same circuit will cut into his profits, even though he is, by far, the better known. He has power to wield, however, so he divides the United States into two regions. Each brother would perform in his own region, never crossing into the other’s territory. Edwin takes the populous North, including New York City, Boston, and Philadelphia, while John Wilkes is relegated to the less populous South, where audiences and profits are much smaller. John Wilkes begins his first Southern tour in 1860, as the country itself is dividing along the same lines as his brother’s map.


Toiling in the South, John Wilkes begins to sympathize with the Confederate cause, increasing tensions with his Union-loving family. After performing in New Orleans, where he meets up with members of the Confederate Secret Service, John Wilkes finally finds his chance for stardom by joining the conspiracy to kidnap President Lincoln. His decision, Titone persuasively argues, is forged as much by his failed career, his squandered earnings, and his jealousy of his brother’s success, as by his politics or his hatred for Lincoln.


In short, this book forces us to look at the familiar story of Lincoln’s assassin in a new way—through the lens of his tangled family history. Moreover, by placing Edwin Booth at center stage, it brings back to vivid life a fascinating figure whose achievements have been obscured by his brother’s murderous deed. We see Edwin performing before President Lincoln, dining with Secretary of State William Seward, befriending Julia Ward Howe and Adam Badeau, General Grant’s aide-de-camp. We learn that no other actor in the golden age of nineteenth-century theater was ever held in higher esteem. Still, as Titone appreciates, through a final desperate performance, John Wilkes Booth accomplished by death what he had never been able to achieve in life—he finally upstaged his brother.


—Doris Kearns Goodwin
          April 29, 2010
          Concord, Massachusetts





PROLOGUE

THE PLAYERS


All the world’s a stage,
And all the men and women merely players;
They have their exits and their entrances,
And one man in his time plays many parts…


—As You Like It, 2.7


ON THE LAST DAY OF 1892, A TEMPEST HIT MANHATTAN. A HEAVY, DAYLONG downpour filled the avenues of the city with ankle-deep water. Fifty-mile-an-hour winds tore umbrellas inside out, chased pedestrians off the streets, and hurled gusts of rain against roof and window. This weather kept most people home for New Year’s Eve, but three hours before midnight a coach carrying the president-elect of the United States started southward, directly into the path of the storm. It was not an easy journey. For forty-five blocks the driver had to urge his balking horses to bring the president to his destination. Only a serious commitment would call a person out in a gale like this one, particularly Grover Cleveland, a good-natured but torpid man who generally avoided physical exertion. Yet tonight he dressed in a white tie and black evening coat, left the comfort of his mansion on East Sixty-eighth Street, and set forth on the wet and blustery drive without complaint. He was going to a party to give a speech in honor of the actor Edwin Booth.


Paying tribute to an actor would be a delicate mission for any president at the close of the nineteenth century. Most stage stars, no matter how popular, were social outcasts. As a guardian of New York’s high society once explained, acting, like other forms of moneymaking artistic work, was scorned by the nineteenth-century ruling classes “as something between a black art and a form of manual labor.” Adding to the difficulty of Cleveland’s task was that, over the past half century, perhaps no name had been at once more beloved and more reviled by the American people than that of Booth. On an earlier occasion, John Hay, who had lived and worked with Abraham Lincoln in the White House and was like a son to the martyred president, chose to send his speech honoring Edwin Booth by mail. General William T. Sherman, hero of the Grand Army of the Republic and an enthusiastic admirer of Edwin Booth, would be present at tonight’s party but would not address the crowd.


Cleveland agreed to deliver the night’s keynote, encouraged perhaps by the official limbo he found himself in this season. By a strange twist of timing, Cleveland was president tonight, and yet he was not. The only chief executive to win the White House, lose it, and win it back again four years later, this New Year’s Eve Cleveland was at once an ex-president and the president-elect. Benjamin Harrison would hold the real title to the highest office in the land until March 3, 1893, when Cleveland would be inaugurated for the second time.


Booth had made a special request that Cleveland speak for him tonight. Having a president, even one of indeterminate status, make a personal address meant everything to the actor. On this New Year’s Eve, out of friendship and love for Edwin Booth, Cleveland was happy to play a president’s part. After four years of exile from the White House, Cleveland wanted to wear the mantle of the office again. “What shall be done with our expresidents?” he had demanded before his reelection, impatient with the routines of civilian life. “Take them out and shoot them?”


Wind shook Cleveland’s coach as it moved downtown, heading for Gramercy Park. This private square, planted with elms and willows, ornately fenced, and surrounded by some of the finest mansions in the city, was a world unto itself. A proud list of pedigreed American families made their homes in the quiet enclave three blocks from Fifth Avenue—Joneses, Coopers, Ruggleses, and Van Rensselaers all had lived here. Former president Chester A. Arthur kept an address on Gramercy Park, as had, from time to time, such celebrated names as Herman Melville and Edith Wharton. In 1888 Edwin Booth had staked out a permanent place for himself in this patrician nook when he bought the Greek Revival residence at No. 16. His exceptional talents, his status as a nationally recognized “genius,” his immense wealth, and his international fame guaranteed the star a respectful welcome, even here.


Yet from behind window curtains of taffeta and embroidered velvet, the park’s blue-blood residents watched in consternation as construction work began at No. 16 after Booth’s purchase. The actor moved his personal possessions only into the third floor of the mansion. His plans for the rest of the space came as a surprise to all. Over a lunch at Delmonico’s early in 1888, Booth and a handful of his well-known friends—Mark Twain and General William T. Sherman among them—signed articles of incorporation to establish a private club, called The Players, within the walls of No. 16. It was said that the best men in New York, perhaps in the entire nation, would be invited to fill the ranks of this secretive new society. But, it was understood, Edwin Booth would reign supreme over the elite company as the club’s founder and lifetime president.


Gramercy Park’s denizens watched as metalworkers soldered a massive gold-toned plaque into place above No. 16’s doorway. A sunburst of bronze rays surrounded two masks, the emblems of Comedy and Tragedy, one frozen in a rictus of laughter, the other set in a grimace of despair. Quoting Shakespeare, Edwin explained his choice for his new club’s insignia: “all the world’s a stage, and all the men and women merely players.” The laughing and crying masks were eerie reminders of the actor’s peculiar personal history and probably unsettled his neighbors. When carpenters hung two iron lanterns crowned with foot-long spikes on either side of those masks, some muttered about the garish addition to the neighborhood’s refined architecture. Every evening the gas-fed light from these lamps suffused the park with a green brilliance, marking the path to Booth’s door.


Even in the thick of the New Year’s gale, The Players’ beacons did their work. Cleveland would have seen his destination well enough as the carriage entered Gramercy Park, where the wind whipped the leafless elm trees. December 31, 1892, was the fifth anniversary of The Players’ existence. Edwin Booth’s club had grown in that time to almost eight hundred members, and brought unaccustomed traffic to the pavements of Gramercy Park. President Cleveland himself had been a Player in good standing since 1889; his carriage stopping before the clubhouse was by now a familiar sight to park dwellers. Tonight, bundled in a greatcoat, Cleveland struggled to the ground and made his way to the shelter of the porch. Dozens of storm-rattled coaches pulled into line behind Cleveland’s, delivering a procession of figures in high hats and long-tailed coats to the same entrance. The club’s illustrious membership was arriving. They have been described as “the foremost men in every walk of life.” Every New Year’s Eve, on the anniversary of their club’s creation, The Players gathered to pay tribute to their founder, Edwin Booth. This year, Grover Cleveland would lead the assembled greats in a ritual honoring the white-haired actor.


A waiter divested Cleveland of his enormous coat in the club’s white marble entry hall. When political opponents dubbed Cleveland “the Beast of Buffalo,” they were not only referring to the former mayor’s rumored penchant for seducing shop girls in that city. Weighing in at three hundred pounds, with his thick neck and massive jowls, Cleveland was practically bison-sized. As he climbed the curving mahogany steps to reach the club’s main hall, his tread made the boards creak. The room at the top of the stairs was dazzling to the eye, but Cleveland had become inured to its splendors. When Booth chose No. 16 as the home for his private society, the thirty-five-year-old architect Stanford White, Booth’s friend and a founding club member, labored long over The Players’ interior design. Every detail of the rooms and all the furnishings were chosen to gratify the tastes of the eminent men Booth hoped to entice into joining. Century Magazine, a leading periodical of the day, published an illustrated account of White’s designs when the club first opened its doors. Readers across America learned that the club’s millionaire members were donating portions of their art collections to The Players, turning the building into a miniature museum, a treasure house of antiques, rare books and manuscripts, paintings, and curios. A number of fireproof steel bank safes bolted into the walls held the more precious items, including Second, Third, and Fourth Folio editions of Shakespeare, but the rest of the club’s riches were displayed for members to use and enjoy.


Yellow and gold wallpaper lined the reception hall. Blue frescoes covered the ceiling. A fireplace built from slabs of African marble dominated the west end of the room. Zebra and tiger skin rugs covered the glossy oak floors. In the light of crystal chandeliers and lamps selected by Louis Comfort Tiffany, the club’s mahogany furniture glowed. Paintings by Velázquez, Sir Joshua Reynolds, and Childe Hassam sat in gilded frames. For Founder’s Night, every room, corridor, and even the balustrade of the grand staircase descending from the second-floor library to the main hall was decked with pine boughs and flowers. Blooms and greenery adorned a life-size portrait of Edwin Booth near the main fireplace, like offerings at a saint’s altar.


Pressing his way through the crowd of guests, Cleveland would have smelled the club’s rich atmosphere of cut flowers and cigar smoke. Smoking was habitual at The Players, tobacco the recognized currency of fellowship. Cuspidors abounded.


A knot of men standing before the central fireplace caught sight of Cleveland and hailed their master of ceremonies with welcoming shouts, ushering him through a pair of sixteen-foot-high sliding doors into the Grill Room, where dinner awaited. Visitors lucky enough to have a meal here found the space magnificent. Branches of stag’s antlers had been transformed into candelabra and affixed to the room’s mahogany-paneled walls. Oak beams crisscrossed the ceiling, evoking the inner hold of a ship. The head of a ten-point buck, shot by a club member, jutted over a fireplace at one end of the room. A portrait of Edwin Booth’s father, the great actor Junius Brutus Booth, hung opposite. Long tables covered in white damask and set with fine old pewter plates and silver goblets awaited President Cleveland, Edwin Booth, and dozens of other distinguished guests.


The Players was an unusual society. Nothing like it existed anywhere else in the country. Too ill and infirm to act onstage any longer, the sixty-year-old Booth had devoted his remaining energies to creating a club where the brightest minds and biggest talents in America could meet and mingle. Membership in this society was limited, by Booth’s own decree, to a small number of actors and a lengthy list of men who had proved themselves giants or geniuses in their chosen fields of endeavor. When the actor had approached leading figures in the arts, finance, law, publishing, politics, and science, all submitted their names for membership. Not only William T. Sherman and Grover Cleveland answered the call, but J. Pierpont Morgan, Cornelius Vanderbilt II, and assorted scions of the Astor and Carnegie families. Inventors Nikola Tesla and Peter Cooper Hewitt, author Samuel L. Clemens (always known as Mark at The Players), architect Stanford White, painter John Singer Sargent, designer Louis Comfort Tiffany, and sculptors Frederic Remington and Augustus Saint-Gaudens all sought admission along with poets, judges, book publishers, magazine editors, diplomats, and art patrons.


The Players comprised a field of accomplishment so varied that Booth’s bookkeeper was led to devise odd abbreviations to keep track of its members’ multifarious occupations. In the official club records, the terms Bish, Bnkr, CP, Expl, Lyr, Mag, Mer, Min, Orn, RE, and RR denote Players who identified their professions, respectively, as Bishop, Banker, College President, Explorer, Lyricist, Magician, Merchant, Mining executive, Ornithologist, Real Estate magnate, and Railroad baron.


Women were barred from the club’s door. On one day each year, Shakespeare’s birthday, April 23, the wives and daughters of members were permitted to cross the threshold, and then only between the hours of two and four, to drink tea. Club rules also forbade gambling and card playing. Plentiful food and drink, a well-stocked library, camaraderie, and conversation were the only diversions on offer.


Booth considered The Players his lasting gift to America. He hoped the society’s members, through continual association, would find new ways to invigorate the nation’s cultural, intellectual, and economic life for generations to come. In private, the actor confessed to another goal in mind. He had been born to a family of stage performers, and learned from childhood that Americans viewed actors as second-class citizens; they were hardscrabble illusionists, hucksters who mimed and dissembled before crowds for money. Refined people disapproved of theaters and looked down on anyone who made a living inside them. Even while clamoring for tickets, respectable folk recoiled from social intimacy with the traveling Bohemians they applauded, fearing a taint of immorality. So actors lived apart, in a closed and clannish subculture of their own.


Edwin Booth knew better than most that an actor’s isolation from the mainstream could have disastrous consequences. He wanted The Players to bridge the gap between the real world and the realm of the stage, with himself as chief ambassador. “We actors do not mingle enough with minds that influence the world,” the Founder explained. “We should measure ourselves through personal contact with outsiders.” A club composed only of theater people, Booth said, “would be a gathering place of freaks who come to look upon another sort of freak. I want real men there.” Of the 750 men who belonged to the club in 1892, 150 were actors. The rest were “real men.”


Edith Wharton, chronicler of the American upper class in the waning years of the nineteenth century, once observed that “the attempts of vulgar persons to buy their way into the circle of the elect” rarely succeeded. Perhaps only a man of Edwin Booth’s caliber could have accomplished it. Toward the end of his life, newspapers called Booth “the Actor King.” In the last decades of an almost fifty-year career, the millionaire star traveled from city to city by private railroad car, performing Shakespeare for audiences paying up to a hundred dollars per ticket. Booth could earn fifty thousand dollars in four weeks on the road—roughly the equivalent of $2 million in modern currency. When the train towing his car approached a station, bands of musicians gathered by the tracks, alongside parades of citizens and delegations of local officials, to salute him. Edwin Booth, opined one newspaper, “is the foremost actor of a nation of sixty millions, an honor to his time and to his country. No other actor of any age has ever been held in higher esteem.” The head of one of Manhattan’s ruling families put it another way. “Edwin Booth is a man of genius,” he said simply, “and a most charming person to meet—which is not always the case with men of genius, you know.”


Hundreds of Players were making the trip through the New Year’s storm for the midnight ritual honoring the actor, but a small circle of club members arrived early to share a formal dinner with Booth and President-elect Cleveland. Immense fortunes had been made in the quarter century since the end of the Civil War, years some historians have referred to as “the most shameful period ever seen in American life.” It was a time of collusion between government and private business over land rights, coal and mineral deposits, supply contracts, and tax exemptions. This period witnessed the rise of mammoth trusts and corporations, many of which owed their existence to the rulings of federal courts, Congress, and a White House that saw “the acquisition of wealth as the single worthy aim.” Contemporaries called it “the Great Barbecue”; a small number of individuals had the choicest cuts of meat while the mass of Americans, it was said, made do “with the giblets.” Many of the men seated in rows along the tables in the Grill Room for Booth’s private banquet tonight had seized some of the biggest portions.


One guest, the Player calling himself Mark Twain, had written a novel whose title gave these years their enduring name, “the Gilded Age.” Twain lampooned the spectacle of new American wealth by revealing the mendacity and fraud that had accompanied it. The age was gilded, not gold, Twain argued, because one scratch of this gleaming façade revealed the layer of dross underneath.


The same might be said of Booth’s palace on Gramercy Park, and not because its owner, decades earlier, led a vagabond’s existence, stealing chickens when hungry and sleeping off his hangovers in the gutter. Every man at the table tonight knew who Edwin Booth’s younger brother was, though it was forbidden to speak the dead youth’s name within the club’s walls. Outside The Players, the same newspapers and magazines hailing Edwin Booth as a national treasure observed a similar ban. Everyone knew of the actor’s refusal to discuss his brother or his brother’s crime. Close friends always took care to warn visitors to The Players that the Founder “had no brother by the name of John Wilkes Booth.”


In the twenty-seven years since Abraham Lincoln’s death in 1865, the actor refused to set foot in the nation’s capital, declining a personal invitation from President Chester A. Arthur to perform there in 1885. Even when a host of United States senators, Supreme Court justices, and cabinet members joined the call for Booth’s appearance, the star remained unmoved. He would perform in Baltimore, but no closer. When Booth refused to act in Washington, the capital made a pilgrimage to Booth. A line of first-class railroad cars shuttled President Arthur and his administration to and from Baltimore for a full week. “Night after night,” Booth’s manager recalled, “the Great World came to him.” “Official, Diplomatic, Social Washington,” he said, occupied front-row seats in an auditorium forty miles away from Ford’s Theatre, honoring Booth with tearful ovations. Such demonstrations left the actor unmoved.


Once, during a social evening over brandy and tobacco, a young player eager to curry favor with the Founder forgot this taboo, and asked,


“How many brothers and sisters did you have, Mr. Booth?”


A hush fell over the company as the actor replied, slowly, between puffs on a pipe, “I forget the lot of us. I’ll name them. You count them for me! Junius Brutus—after my father, of course—Rosalie, Henry, Mary, Frederick, Elizabeth—I come in here—Asia, Joe—how many is that?”


“Nine, Mr. Booth,” answered his questioner, mortified at committing such a gaffe. “What big families they used to raise!” the Founder marveled, continuing to smoke, and the topic of conversation was changed. Everyone listening that night knew there was a tenth Booth sibling, but during the Founder’s lifetime he was omitted from the count.


When John Wilkes Booth shot Lincoln, a Maryland resident remembered, “extreme prejudice and wild excitement ruled the hour, and was intensified, for the time, in hearing the sound of the name of ‘Booth.’” Lynching parties were formed by grieving citizens, and many actors, regardless of their connection to the assassin, went in fear for their safety. Nearly three decades later, such excitement had long been extinguished. “The innocent no longer suffer for the guilty,” rejoiced one of Edwin’s admirers. “Time sets all things even.” A president was present at The Players tonight to garnish the Booth name with laurels, to give a hero’s salute to the reputation of an artist who felt tainted by the events of April 14, 1865. The actor had created a living monument to the Booth name and his own celebrity when he founded The Players, but he planned tonight’s banquet and special ceremony in order to set things further even. These honorary gestures, one contemporary perceived, established the fact that Edwin Booth was “loved, honored and respected for his transcendent talents and law-abiding citizenship, fully as much as it would be possible to accord him had his reckless brother never committed the insane act.”


For most of the guests this Founder’s Night, memories of the Civil War were distant. Edith Wharton herself recalled the year 1892 as “the dark time of our national indifference.” “The war seemed much less a part of us,” she wrote, feeling as if her country had “buried the whole business out of sight, out of hearing.” Nobody talked about it anymore, certainly not the men assembled that night to honor Edwin Booth. They, like the rest of the country, accepted the prevailing explanation for what happened in Ford’s Theatre. Booth’s brother was “no hired assassin,” one theatrical old-timer explained. “The spirit of exaltation that made him exclaim as he leaped upon the stage after the fatal shot: ‘Sic Semper Tyranis’ was but the natural outcome of the distemper that lay in the blood and ill-regulated mind of the father which skipped the other children and lodged in the superficial brain of the mad Wilkes.” “The fiend in human shape who committed a deed which has no parallel in atrocity in the world” had been insane. The unsuccessful actor, it was said, inherited the Booth taint of madness, but missed the spark of genius his father and his older brother Edwin possessed. A demented enthusiasm for the South’s lost cause and an obsessive hatred for Abraham Lincoln, it was assumed, drove the Founder’s brother to his desperate act.


The Founder’s Night feast, like the surroundings, was magnificent. An hour before midnight, after the plates were cleared away, the small company rose and passed into the main hall to greet the mass of other Players now arriving. Men in evening dress crammed every room, spilling into the hallways, even occupying steps of the staircase. Younger, more nimble members of the club perched on the banister for a better view of the spot before the central fireplace where the night’s ritual would take place. A rain-soaked reporter from the New York Times had managed to make his way past the door. When the club’s grandfather clock struck midnight and Grover Cleveland claimed the floor to speak, the reporter’s pen would be ready.


Grover Cleveland was the first Democratic candidate to capture the White House since the South seceded from the Union. He composed his speech honoring Edwin Booth tonight with care. Not an eloquent man but a single-minded one, Cleveland was known for his defense of millionaires’ interests and for his veto of a bill awarding pensions to Civil War veterans. Allergic to art and a stranger to reading material other than the Bible, Cleveland held literature and high culture in low esteem.


Some people who knew Cleveland intimately marveled at how this corpulent nonreader could brave the intellectual atmosphere of The Players. There, the gathering of artists, innovators, and thinkers would make any ordinary man feel like a voyager to a foreign land. Cleveland, perhaps with a sense of his own limitations, referred to Booth, Twain, and other exceptional members of the club as “the bright lights.” Stories were told of the president being seized with paralyzing shyness when hobnobbing with Players “to whom he attributed superior learning or cultivation.” But these attacks were momentary. Cleveland was no stranger to drink, and after a few glasses, the president lost his reticence and became “one of the raciest talkers and raconteurs” in the city.


When drinking and trading stories in the club’s Grill Room, Cleveland could feel at home, but his strongest connection to this congregation of “bright lights” was the Founder himself. Edwin Booth and Grover Cleveland first met while summering on nearby Connecticut estates during Cleveland’s first term. The actor and the president discovered an immediate rapport. In hot July weather, wearing broad-brimmed straw hats and linen trousers, the two trooped off with fishing lines and tackle. The president considered Booth an excellent sport, and easily set aside the crime the actor’s brother had committed so many years ago. Cleveland’s voting public could find nothing unseemly in this friendship. Almost three decades had gone by since the tragedy. For an equal period, the highest echelons of society had embraced Edwin Booth. In fact, it was widely known that the idea for creating The Players had first come to Booth while he was taking a pleasure trip on a steam yacht belonging to the financier Elias C. Benedict, President Cleveland’s closest, most trusted friend.


Spending warm-weather holidays on the New England coast was a long-standing habit in the Booth family. Edwin and two of his brothers, in a rare period of peace among them, vacationed on Long Island Sound during the last summer of the Civil War. One of them kept a diary for July 1864, noting the brothers spent quiet days together “sunning and rowing… loafing, reading and smoking.” If, when walking the same beaches with Grover Cleveland decades later, Edwin’s memory ever turned to that faraway time, it is unlikely he ever mentioned it to the president.


After dinner, President Cleveland made his way through the throng in the main hall to reach the central fireplace. The club’s maître d’hôtel, dressed in severe black, directed him to stand before the hearth in preparation for the ceremony. The backdrop for Cleveland’s midnight speech could not have been grander. The marble mantel, heavily carved, was over a foot thick. A large medallion stamped with The Players’ masks of tragedy and comedy loomed over the flames. Bronze candelabra, weighing hundreds of pounds, supported blazing candles on either side of the fireplace. John Singer Sargent’s life-size portrait of Edwin Booth filled the wall. Reaching nearly to the ceiling, the picture showed the star at middle age. Booth seemed to be striding out of the gold frame, on the verge of speaking. Sargent was no flatterer. Before posing for the penetrating, all-seeing portraitist, Edwin Booth was advised by fellow club members to “lock yourself in a dark room and sandpaper your soul.” Sargent certainly painted the actor as he saw him: an egotist and a depressive, an artist at once compassionate, ruthless, morbidly sensitive, and filled with tension and grief. The Players loved this honest image of their Founder, and complimented club member Sargent on his triumph.


Cleveland needed only to look at the difference between this portrait and its white-haired, hollow-cheeked original to understand why his presence as speaker tonight had been requested so urgently. The living Edwin Booth had taken his place at Cleveland’s side in an armchair before the fireplace. He looked a decade older than his fifty-nine years. Rheumatism, a stroke, and an assassination attempt by a Lincoln-loving audience member while Booth was performing in Chicago in 1879 had all taken their toll. Rumors that Booth’s health was failing, that perhaps he was not long for this world, seemed to be accurate.


Cleveland grasped Edwin’s hand to wish him Happy New Year then stepped aside to make room for other well-wishers. The actor was heard to say in a low voice, “You drink tonight to my health. A year from tonight you will drink to my memory.” Friends reproved Booth for the gloomy prediction, but he only smiled and shook his head. Walter Oettel, the headwaiter, placed a small table next to Cleveland and poured a bottle of champagne into the three-handled silver cup the president would use when toasting Booth at midnight. The Players drank from this ceremonial vessel every year during the ritual pledge of fidelity to the Founder.


When the Players’ clock indicated five minutes to midnight, the noise in the hall subsided and all guests turned to where President Cleveland stood beside the Founder. The waiter held the three-handled cup ready as Cleveland smiled at his audience. He was here tonight, before prominent witnesses, to honor a man who had been waiting nearly thirty years for such a gesture. The Times reporter stood in the crowd, noting Cleveland’s words and demeanor. A transcript of the speech appeared in the papers the next day. Perhaps it was the exalted company, or perhaps it was the weightiness of the task before him, but Cleveland’s hearers were surprised at the man’s unaccustomed eloquence.


“Gentlemen,” he began, “this is one of the occasions which remind me that the best things in life are not found in struggle or turmoil, nor in the sad pursuit of a favorite phantom. There is something within our reach more valuable, more satisfying, more ennobling, than all that wealth, or social distinction, or even professional success can give us. I speak,” he said, “of friendship.” A storm of applause interrupted here, and for a few moments Cleveland was unable to proceed. When the clapping subsided, the president faced Edwin Booth again and resumed. “We rejoice that the opportunity is here and now afforded us to express our love and admiration for our Founder, whose name is a sacred word within these walls, and of whose fame, we, as his brothers, are doubly proud. You honor us all, Mr. Booth, and you know how affectionately and heartily we wish you a ‘Happy New Year.’” The Times reported that the Players burst into “a fervent chorus of acclaim” while the actor rose slowly from his chair to bow to the room.


Men standing close to him noticed Booth was crying. The clock was striking twelve as the Founder, with hands that trembled, accepted the massive silver cup of champagne from the president. When he raised it to his lips to drink, the Players cheered again. Cleveland took the cup back from Edwin, sipped, and handed it into the audience. Every club member would drink from it in turn. Silence settled over the company. One man standing in the crowd that night remembered shivering at the sight of Booth and Cleveland, and feeling “the chill at the heart” that comes from experiencing an unforgettable moment in history. This is a president of the United States, people were thinking, and this is the brother of the man who shot Lincoln. The midnight ritual complete, the frail actor stepped into an elevator and ascended to his private apartment on the mansion’s third floor. Less than a year later, Edwin Booth would be dead.


The actor made his exit from his last Founder’s Night ceremony almost dropping with exhaustion, but despite the late hour he could not close his eyes. The yellow-canopied four-poster in Booth’s bedroom had a wishful motto painted over it, “Now blessings light on him that first invented sleep.” Every night in his luxurious sanctum at The Players, the insomniac star stayed fitfully awake, smoking a pipe in silence, waiting often until the hour of dawn for rest to claim him. Edwin called this sleepless stretch between midnight and morning “my vulture hours,” telling friends that crowding memories kept him awake through the night, preying on him like scavenging birds.


Booth wrestled with his thoughts alone, he said, “in the aching gloom of my little red room.” He never talked about what troubled him, or invited a friend to share his all-night vigils. Edwin Booth served out a sentence imposed by his tireless memory inside the walls of The Players, spending five years in this bedroom where sleep was a stranger. “Nothing of fame or fortune can compensate for spiritual suffering,” Edwin wrote to his daughter on the twenty-fifth anniversary of Abraham Lincoln’s murder. “I’d sooner be an obscure farmer, or a cabinetmaker as my father advised,” the actor stated, than endure “the penalty of greatness. But Nature cast me for the part she found me best fitted for, and I have to play it, and must play it, till the curtain falls.” On June 7, 1893, at one o’clock in the morning, in that bedroom, the end came. He was sixty.


Booth’s room remains unchanged and undisturbed still, over a century after his death. Visitors are rare. A framed chalk rubbing over his writing desk, taken from the inscription on Shakespeare’s tomb at Stratford-upon-Avon, reads like a warning: “Good friend, for Jesus’ sake forbear to dig the dust enclosed here. Blessed be the man that spares these stones, and curst be he that moves my bones.” It would be a fitting epitaph for Edwin Booth. To enter his chamber now is to confront a puzzle. The place is a jumble of images and artifacts testifying to a darker drama beneath the surface of this actor’s long and extraordinary career.


To the left of Edwin’s bed, placed so as to be at eye level with the actor as he reclined against the pillows, is a photograph of his brother John Wilkes in street clothes, dating from the Civil War. The handsome face of their father, Junius Brutus Booth, flushed with the boundless energy of a nineteen-year-old, shines from a gilt frame over the doorway. This portrait could be of any young British gentleman: his hair is combed to perfection and his cravat is crisply tied over a high collar. A photograph of the same man, taken decades later in America, provides a startling contrast: this Junius Brutus Booth wears mismatched garments, his features are roughened by drink and exposure to the sun, and a fanatic gleam lurks in his eyes. A cameo of the Booth boys’ London-born mother, Mary Ann Holmes, rests on a dresser near the bed, and on the far wall is a picture of the young actress Edwin married on the eve of the Civil War. The day of their wedding, John Wilkes was the only member of the Booth family who agreed to be a witness.


Below this picture, a dagger dangles in a scabbard. Edwin and his brothers were skilled fencers and fighters, able to enact the gymnastic swordplay of Macbeth, Romeo and Juliet, Richard III, Hamlet, and Julius Caesar. Stagecraft was in Edwin Booth’s bones. From his famous father, the star had learned how to set a scene and dominate it. John Wilkes Booth had not been apprenticed to his father, but the training he acquired on his own was on full display the night of April 14, 1865, when the twenty-six-year-old made his show-stopping entrance in the third act of Our American Cousin. John choreographed his surprise performance at Ford’s Theatre in part to secure himself a permanent place in national memory and knock his celebrated older brother off his pedestal forever. Every aspect of the brief, violent scene was carefully planned by a narcissistic player who cast his victim in a minor role, a bleeding stage prop. The firing of Booth’s pistol was not a signal to bring down the curtain, but the attention-grabbing announcement of his own grand entrance. After shooting Lincoln, the killer planted himself at center stage, stalking across the boards in a slow, menacing crouch. He slashed a dagger before the footlights, shouting scripted words of defiance. This was a star’s turn, and many in the theater that night perceived the assassin was acting.


Even the shooter’s wild leap from the balcony of Lincoln’s box was contrived, not improvised. Dizzying fifteen-foot jumps were among Booth’s signature tricks. Theater owner John T. Ford had seen John Wilkes make the same jump three years earlier: while playing Macbeth in Baltimore, Ford stated in his court testimony, Wilkes made his entrance by plummeting to the stage from a precipice, startling Shakespeare’s witches as they toiled over the cauldron. Edwin Booth’s closest friend, Adam Badeau, a theater critic and Union Army officer, was in the field as an aide-de-camp to General Ulysses S. Grant when Lincoln was killed. From his post in Virginia, Colonel Badeau, who knew John Wilkes well, immediately recognized the assassination as a performance. “It was exactly what a man brought up in a theater might have been expected to conceive,” Badeau wrote. “A man, too, of his peculiar family, the son of Junius Brutus Booth, used all his life to acting tragedies.”


When Junius Brutus Booth died before his time—stricken with dysentery in 1852 aboard a Mississippi River steamboat—he bequeathed a contest to his two favorite sons. At the first news of the actor’s demise, theater people could predict the nature of this competition. This towering star, beloved by audiences from New York to New Orleans, left “a kingless kingdom” behind him. The elder Booth’s “vacant throne and unworn crown were waiting,” a family friend explained, for one of his sons, Edwin or John Wilkes, to seize. While yet in their teens, the two brothers dedicated themselves to a fight for their father’s legacy. Not only fame was at stake between the two siblings, but also money. On the crowded boards of the nineteenth-century American theater business, there was room for only one Booth.


Four years older and ruthlessly competitive, Edwin Booth used every advantage he had to lock his younger brother out of a stage career, denying John Wilkes the mentoring and professional help he might otherwise have provided. The younger brother was forced to make his bid for stardom largely alone, encouraged only by his mother, Mary Ann, and his sister Asia. As the race progressed, it became clear only one of the brothers had inherited their father’s genius. John Wilkes lacked the qualities that made his brother a star. Time and again in the course of his brief life, the younger Booth stood by as Edwin scored victory after victory, amassing large profits and raising the bar of achievement higher. Edwin had been furious when he heard of his brother’s crime. He interpreted Lincoln’s murder as a direct attack on the celebrity he worked so hard to win. “Oh where has my glory gone?” Edwin once lamented. “John’s madness,” he later wrote, appeared “to set the seal on my destiny.”


The race between the brothers Booth did not end with the president’s death, or when the assassin was killed on the run. Edwin pressed on with greater intensity than before, striving to outpace the notoriety his brother achieved and to restore honor to the Booth name. Theater audiences fueled the now one-sided contest. As a New York theatrical agent of the Civil War period explained, “Edwin Booth was devoured with a thirst for fame—a very wise ambition, for fame brings money—and he drew the largest profits after his brother’s assassination of Lincoln.” Only six months after the president’s body was laid in the ground at Springfield, Illinois, the brother of Lincoln’s killer gave notice that he would walk the stage once more, pulling off one of the most audacious comebacks in American history.


THE ACTOR’S NOW FRAYING BEDROOM ON THE THIRD FLOOR OF THE PLAYERS is the domain of one whose outsize talents were instrumental in changing the course of history. It is the place where a tormented man privately weighed the meaning of his success and measured his share of responsibility for a brother’s epic crime. Edwin’s dramatic gifts, his accomplishments, the magnitude of his victory over his sibling, had played a part in costing Abraham Lincoln his life. These thoughts, pawed over in silence night after night, year after year, brought Edwin Booth’s “vulture hours” down upon him. Even when a president of the United States led a room of eminent Americans in praise of the Booth name, the knowledge remained. As much as Lincoln’s murder was the result of the war between the North and South, it also was the climax of a dark struggle between two brothers who never wore the uniform of soldiers, except onstage. Until his dying day, Edwin Booth lived with the fact that he himself loomed as large as President Lincoln in what a family friend called “the vortex of hell-born dreams” driving John Wilkes to pull the trigger. A confession of sorts burst from Edwin at the end of his life. “I am glad I have not sons,” he said. “When a name becomes important it had better die with the one who made it distinguished.”


After Mark Twain, one historian has observed, Edwin Booth was one of the most recognizable American artists of the late nineteenth century. His features were familiar to millions; quite a feat in a day before motion pictures. When Booth walked abroad in cities, strangers recognized him. Thus did many Chicagoans observe the star making a pilgrimage one Sunday morning to the statue of the slain president that stands in a park on the shores of Lake Michigan. Thinking he was unseen, Booth removed his hat and stood for some minutes contemplating the statue’s face. A witness to the scene said the actor then “took a flower from his button hole and placed it at the martyred President’s feet. When he reached his carriage he turned and made a gesture which said everything that was in his heart. He drove away.”


The visitor to Edwin Booth’s room today will see the glass cabinet with mirrored shelves that holds the paraphernalia of a dedicated smoker. Here the actor kept his collection of pipes, some carved from bone or molded from clay, some slender and long-stemmed, others short, rounded, and fat. When the “vulture hours” of memory plagued him, he filled and lit one of these, and sat contemplating a line from Don Quixote he had painted in green and gold lettering over his fireplace: “And when the smoke ascends on high, then thou beholds the vanity of worldly stuff, gone with a puff. Thus think, and smoke tobacco.”


Together, Edwin and John Wilkes Booth enacted one of the strangest stories in American history, one with twists and turnings as improbable as any saga from Shakespeare. To trace the plot of their intertwined lives and to understand its violent climax, we must follow this tale of two brothers back to the beginning, to the moment the Booth family first arrived on these shores. The parents of Edwin and John Wilkes Booth came here from London in the infant years of the Republic. Forging a life in a new land changed the couple, altering them in ways that would have a profound effect on their children.


Their father, Junius Brutus Booth, was an extraordinary figure. His genius onstage won him the admiration and regard of several United States presidents—including John Quincy Adams, Andrew Jackson, and Martin Van Buren. But Booth’s membership in the theatrical profession, his taste for alcohol and violence, his heretical religious beliefs, and his recurring attempts at suicide consigned him to the company of misfits and outlaws. The boys received another unhappy legacy from their parents. Junius Brutus Booth and Mary Ann Holmes lived together for thirty years, unmarried. All of their ten children were illegitimate, a Baltimore lawyer proved, the “fruits” of “adulterous” intercourse. Born into these circumstances, it is no surprise that the brothers Booth conceived a lifelong hunger for social and professional prestige. Even before their ill-fated race for fame began, the boys played their parts in a painful family drama filled with episodes of humiliation and betrayal so extreme, only a playwright, it might seem, could have imagined them.







 



PART ONE
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1821–1852








ONE


A FAMOUS REBEL


Both young and old rebel,
And all goes worse than I have power to tell.


—Richard II, 3.2


ON JUNE 30, 1821, A SCHOONER—THE TWO BROTHERS—SAILED INTO PORT at Norfolk, Virginia. Bound from Madeira with a cargo of wine, the vessel made its way through a forest of tall ships in the harbor. Two Brothers belonged to the smallest class of freighters on the high seas, and was not fit to carry passengers. The only private space on board belonged to the captain. Yet for this trip, he had cut a deal with a man and a young woman who said they were anxious to reach America. An appeal to chivalry—the woman was pregnant—may have persuaded the captain to give up his cabin, but more likely it was her partner’s offer to pay for their passage in gold. Money changed hands, and the captain duly listed his two passengers, “Junius Brutus Booth and lady,” as “Actors” in his manifest. Only in hindsight does the name of the ship assume an aura of destiny.


They claimed to be husband and wife. This was a lie, one they planned to pass off as truth in the strange land coming into view over the prow. In reality, they were runaways. Booth was running from his wife and his three-year-old son in London. Nineteen-year-old Mary Ann Holmes was on the run from her parents. She had slipped out of her bedroom in the dark of night, not bothering to tell mother or father of her plan to elope with a married man, and start a new life overseas. It had taken them forty-four days to reach Norfolk from Madeira. Before that, the two made their escape from London by riding a stagecoach out of the city in secret. Stopping at a smugglers’ haven on the English Channel, they found a ship leaving for the island of Madeira and had started on the first leg of their long voyage west.


The pair now stood on deck surrounded by their worldly goods, a little mountain of trunks embossed in bold letters, J. B. BOOTH. One box contained Mary Ann’s hastily packed books and clothing. The rest were crammed with the costly wardrobe of a Shakespearean actor: a crown and cloak of purple velvet for Richard III; a toga, Roman sword, and sandals for Julius Caesar; Hamlet’s black doublet and hose; the turban, scimitar, and sash of Othello; Shylock’s black hat and prayer shawl; the boots and tunic belonging to Macbeth. Packed between layers of costumes were pots of theatrical makeup, wigs, playbills and posters from old shows, a collection of fan mail, and some rave reviews clipped out of London newspapers.


The two wayfarers had turned their backs on what was then the largest city in the world. Over a million people teemed in London’s streets, where palaces and cathedrals, libraries and museums stood monument to centuries of Western civilization. Norfolk, by contrast, was a blank on the map, a place seemingly without history. From the deck of the Two Brothers, Junius and Mary Ann would have seen a handful of wooden buildings and low warehouses huddled onshore. Like so many other American settlements, Norfolk looked rough and primitive, “like a child’s toy,” one English visitor sniffed.


The town clung to a patch of ground on the edge of the Great Dismal Swamp. Eight thousand people scratched out a living here, in the shadow of an immense, alien wilderness. This ancient forest was filled with trees half submerged in brackish liquid, their trunks and branches choked by vines and insectivorous plants. It stretched for eight hundred square miles, populated by reptiles, bears, wildcats, and a species of wild boar the local people called “tuskers.”


Only the promise of treasure could have lured settlers to this inhospitable spot. In 1682, the British first braved the swamp’s ground in order to harvest live oaks. The trees were hard to find and difficult to extract from boggy turf, but they were beloved by shipbuilders. Live oak timber was legendary for its resistance to water, showing unbeatable strength and longevity at sea. The Great Dismal Swamp’s rich supply had kept loggers and carpenters busily at work in Norfolk for over a hundred years. In colonial times, her shipwrights made fast, durable crafts for the British navy. After the Revolution, the town built nearly a hundred ships a year for the United States merchant marine.


Immigrants were scarce here. Most new arrivals hoping to build a future in America put in at Baltimore, New York, or Philadelphia, populous places with plenty of opportunity for employment. Norfolk was a stopover for traders. Captains discharged cargoes of coffee, sugar, and molasses at the warehouses. Crews visited the few brothels and gambling dens onshore before loading up their ships with tobacco cultivated by Virginia’s slaves. Occasionally, a luxury item, like an English harpsichord or a statue of Italian marble, arrived at Norfolk’s docks, destined to grace the mansion of a wealthy planter owner living inland, up the James River.


A crowd met Two Brothers at the dock. Agents swarmed to register the cargo, stevedores hauled out the wine casks, and a pack of boys came to gawk. Junius Brutus Booth and Mary Ann Holmes would have been a notable sight anywhere, but here, in this rough way station on the edge of a swamp, the two were unforgettable. Eyewitnesses remembered the couple’s arrival for years afterward, and histories of the port always record the incident. Booth was small, not above five and a half feet tall, but he made an outsize impression. People saw a “handsome youth with a look betraying no ordinary degree of intelligence” step off the ship. He had arresting features, blue eyes, and long dark hair. A pair of gold hoops dangled, pirate-like, from his ears. His pile of initialed luggage excited much interest, but his female companion was the most interesting object of all. One person described Mary Ann as “exceedingly beautiful, with rare personal attractions,” while another flatly asserted she “was the handsomest woman I ever saw.”


The residents of Norfolk were starved for amusement. Some regularly inhaled nitrous oxide, or laughing gas, to relieve their boredom. “Forty doses as usual will be prepared, and the first 30 who may leave their names at Mr. Hall’s Bookstore shall have the gas administered to them,” read a weekly notice in the American Beacon, the local paper. Beyond hard labor, heavy drinking, and church attendance, little existed to distract them from the vast wilderness that pressed at the margins of their town. In 1821, most of North America remained unexplored, unexploited, and undisturbed by Europeans. Only ten million people scattered mainly along the eastern seaboard.


In this lonely place, the coming of an entertainer was cause for celebration. Yet Junius Brutus Booth was not just any actor. He was a prodigy, a star, a man internationally renowned for his dramatic genius. He was a European import as rare and precious as the ivory-keyed harpsichords, intricate timepieces, or gold-rimmed telescopes unloaded at the docks for the delight of Virginia’s plantation owners.


Booth had come into the world, as he himself was the first to aver, with “a wonder-working mind.” He was born in 1796 to a highly educated clan of Jewish lawyers and silversmiths on his father’s side, and to an Anglican family on his mother’s, in the Bloomsbury section of London. While still a toddler, he showed a startling facility for language. His father instructed him in Latin, Greek, and Hebrew at an early age, and the ambitious child went on to study Arabic, Portuguese, Dutch, French, and Italian before reaching maturity. By his early teens, Booth was stringing verses together like a seasoned poet. He painted and sculpted with skill. Yet to his career-oriented family, the boy’s polymath abilities presented a troublesome riddle. They apprenticed him first as a clerk in a law office, then signed him on as printer’s devil, then he did a turn in an architecture firm. Junius failed at every post. Oppressed by the tedium of repetitive tasks, he wailed that these jobs were too small for his intelligence. His attention wandered and he shirked assignments. The family then enrolled him at an art academy, but cut off his tuition when a pregnant household servant took the teenager to court for child support.


In 1812 the sixteen-year-old Junius, restless and adventure-hungry, decided to enlist in the British navy. His trunks were packed and midshipman’s uniform purchased when his father, Richard, abruptly canceled the arrangement. The United States and Great Britain were at war that year: the elderly attorney did not want his only son to fire cannon at American targets. Lawyer Booth idolized “any and all things appertaining to America,” Junius later explained. His father even made an ironclad rule that all visitors to the Booth home bow before “the picture of General Washington that hung up in our parlor.” Though such sentiments made Richard Booth extremely “unpopular” in their London neighborhood, Junius remembered, it was a point of family pride to “cherish” the vibrant new nation across the Atlantic where freedoms of religion and self-expression were guaranteed.


Filled with talents that could find no proper outlet, Junius burned with frustration. Finally, in 1813, as one Booth relative remembered, “genius pointed out the path.” All London was wild that year for Edmund Kean, the undisputed king of the English stage and greatest actor of his generation. Critics could not find fault with him, worshipping his work in every part he chose to play. Samuel Taylor Coleridge said watching Kean act was “like reading Shakespeare by flashes of lightning.” Lord Byron became so overwrought during a Kean performance, he fell into “a sort of convulsive fit” and had to be carried home from the theater, fainting, by friends. Aristocratic admirers showered the star with laurel crowns, flowers, and purses full of gold coins.


Acting, Junius informed his father, was the answer to his dilemma. Onstage, his multitude of talents would all be engaged. To act was to become sculpture animated, poetry brought to life. Not a single word of Shakespeare’s works was lost to the boy’s extraordinary memory. Junius had acquired fluency in seven languages with ease; learning scripts by heart was the work of a single reading. With Richard’s consent, the seventeen-year-old joined a troupe of Shakespearean actors shipping out on a tour of European capitals.


Booth and his fellow players arrived in Brussels in August 1814 not long before the Battle of Waterloo. The Duke of Wellington’s army—nearly seventy thousand strong—soon would encamp around the city. Napoleon’s forces were gathering as well, preparing to meet for battle. In the coming months, the novice would find himself honing his stagecraft in front of an extraordinary audience. High-ranking British officers, the Duke of York, Prince William of Orange, and Wellington himself sought diversion at the Brussels theater from the mayhem of war. Young Booth was undaunted by the task of entertaining these larger-than-life military heroes. He felt no stage fright. Confidence in his own gifts made him calm, even careless, about the work. When the Prince of Orange made a special request for Junius to play Macbeth, the teenager showed up drunk and late for his command performance. Grinning at the prince, Booth explained his tardiness. He had been detained at a brothel by “two interesting mademoiselles,” he said, who badly wanted to teach him Dutch. Fortunately for Booth, the prince only laughed at his insouciance and sat back to enjoy the play in good humor. When the actor returned home at last, he was a seasoned player, bold, arrogant, and ready to take London by storm.


In a twist of luck that now seems like a cliché from theatrical legend, Booth’s chance at fame arrived in 1817. One night, Edmund Kean, reigning star of London’s stage, failed to appear for a scheduled performance. A harried stage manager pushed twenty-year-old Booth on in Kean’s place. The play was a melodrama popular then, though long forgotten now, A New Way to Pay Old Debts. If Kean produced flashes of lightning, the newcomer showered comets on the crowd. Booth gave the audience, he later boasted, “the god-damnedest” show they had ever seen. Waking up the next morning, he discovered he was a star.


Eager theatrical agents booked Booth at the Covent Garden theater. The announcement drew thousands of people to clamor outside the building, “hungering and thirsting,” one critic reported, for the new favorite. Critics proclaimed the young man’s gift for Shakespeare was unprecedented. Since Queen Elizabeth’s time, they said, few actors had presented the Bard’s characters with such wildness and originality.


Edmund Kean was furious to discover that in one night, a young upstart had toppled him from his throne. The jealous star lost no time trying to destroy his challenger. Kean sent men to disrupt Booth’s performances at Covent Garden. Night after night, when Junius walked onstage, gangs of rowdies hired by Kean shouted, hissed, and waved insulting signs. The twenty-one-year-old bellowed out his lines, but he could not make himself heard over the confusion. Booth’s legions of fans fought back. For over a month, riots erupted as “Boothites” and “Keanites” battled for supremacy in the theater while Junius tried to perform. The uproar at times forced him to run off the stage to escape the rotten vegetables thrown by Kean’s supporters. Only a threat by the lord chamberlain to close all the theaters in London put a stop to the trouble. Kean’s rabble-rousers were silenced. Junius was free, one of his admirers exulted, to use his talent to achieve “the highest pinnacle of fame.”


Richard Booth could not have been happier. His son, far from being a delinquent, now earned a thousand pounds per year onstage, an income some lawyers and architects might envy. Junius had distinguished himself at last. A biography of the dramatic prodigy was rushed into print, telling the story of Booth’s rise to stardom. The memoir contained “some passages of his life and a comic song written by Booth and accounted very witty by those who read it.” The young actor had won himself a place in the circle of radical British artists calling themselves Romantics. These youthful visionaries wanted to do for painting, drama, and literature what Thomas Jefferson, Benjamin Franklin, and John Adams had done for political liberty. They saw themselves as rebels in art, creating works that celebrated the individual, worshipped the natural world, and expressed unrestrained human emotion.


Francisco Goya painted scenes of violence and suffering; J. M. W. Turner captured avalanches and hurricanes on canvas; Mary Wollstonecraft Shelley plumbed the depths of horror in her masterpiece, Frankenstein; the poems of Lord Byron and Percy Bysshe Shelley promoted the sublime experiences of sex, passion, and rebellion. Yet Booth, the actor, in a sense surpassed them all. His creations are lost to us now, but with his body and his voice alone, he channeled the murderer’s fury, the avalanche’s force, the weirdness of a human monster, and the soaring sensations of love. His art was alive, immediate, in the flesh—not trapped in the pages of a book or nailed to a museum wall—and he could be seen nightly, by anyone, for the price of a theater ticket.


Booth’s showdown with Kean did more than demonstrate his acting mettle: it publicized the young star’s talent overseas. British newspapers circulating in the United States carried news of the actors’ contest. From Albany to New Orleans, from Washington, D.C., to Norfolk, many in the United States had heard the name Junius Brutus Booth.


Those who watched this meteoric talent arrive on American shores did so with intense curiosity. One mentioned how surprised he was to find the famous actor not pompous or puffed with self-regard, but boyish, friendly, and completely open in his manners. A citizen on Norfolk’s docks that hot July day in 1821 caught a glimpse of the actor as he arrived, noting Booth “was nearly twenty-five, but looked seven years younger, wore an old straw hat and a linen roundabout; and, without the least shadow of pretension, he sauntered along, gazing at everything he saw.”


Junius and Mary Ann followed dirt lanes from the harbor to Main Street, cutting through a slum of brothels and taverns to reach the center of town. No doubt it was on this walk that the couple saw American slaves for the first time. While both slaves and free blacks lived in Norfolk, the physical sufferings of enslaved people were impossible to miss. Many were hungry, poorly clothed, and showed signs of brandings, whippings, or other forms of abuse. In Virginia at the time, though the Booths did not know it yet, teaching a slave to read was a greater crime than killing one. Junius and Mary Ann may have paid a shilling to a female slave tending one of Norfolk’s “tea wagons” near Market Square. Because potable water was hard to obtain, carts with barrels of tea brewed from well water could be found on most street corners.


Visitors to Norfolk complained that the smell of human waste, rising from ditches and puddles in the streets, overwhelmed the marshy town. Its cluster of makeshift wood houses appeared “slovenly” to visitors used to the orderly brick buildings of Boston, Philadelphia, and Washington, D.C. But after forty-four days at sea, Junius and Mary Ann surely found Norfolk’s Main Street a cheerful sight. Here were carts and bright-painted carriages and a motley, busy pedestrian crowd. Scottish, French, Portuguese, and Spanish-speaking people called Norfolk home. Junius also tuned his ear to the tones and phrasings unique to the American South that were audible in Norfolk. Virginians, the language-loving actor noted in his travel diary that day, pronounced cow as “kyow” and offered to “tote them there things along” when they meant “carry.”


The travelers craved fresh food and information. They hurried, therefore, to the Exchange Coffee House, the hub of Norfolk’s activity. This institution was so important to town life that most business in Norfolk would have come to a halt without it. When President James Monroe visited the Great Dismal Swamp two years before, he and Secretary of State John C. Calhoun dined at the Exchange. The place was a restaurant, travel agency, newsstand, reading room, and informal town hall all in one. The Exchange kept schedules for all the steamboat lines, stagecoach routes, and packet ship systems in the region. Newspapers from the principal American cities, indexed by date, were held in a small library for the benefit of travelers and traders. Citizens could track the arrival and departure of ships, identify cargoes and passengers, ascertain the weather in different parts of the country, and keep up with national and international events. People also might discover where cholera or smallpox had broken out, vital information for anyone planning a journey.


For an actor needing to drum up some paid work, the Exchange was the place to start. “All the news, rumors true or false, scandal and title-tattle centered there,” one old-timer remembered. “It was a useful place of resort where a-body could meet a-body.” A body also might drink a mint julep, consume a beefsteak, or order a dandelion salad. Scanning local papers while eating their first good meal in weeks, the couple would have seen the Dismal Swamp Canal Company’s advertisement for loggers. Men willing to risk life and limb cutting timber might earn fifteen dollars a month. Mary Ann and Junius must have laughed at their good fortune: once the actor found a theater, he could earn ten times the money in a single night.


People at the Exchange told the actor that a grand playhouse, the Marshall, had just been completed in Richmond. Theaters were scarce in Virginia. This new structure, sizable and well appointed, seemed heaven-sent for Booth’s American debut. Junius learned that the steamboat Powhatan could carry him and Mary Ann up the James River to Virginia’s capital for seven dollars apiece. His trunks of costumes went free of charge.


Chugging through a swamp by steamboat filled Junius with elation. He relished novelty and hard traveling. Touring Brussels and Antwerp in the wake of Napoleon’s armies, the actor had recorded in a leather-bound diary scenes of what he called “the terrible effects of the late war.” Booth had seen looters being beheaded by guillotines in Brussels, watched prostitutes and soldiers transacting their business “in the public streets at day,” and walked past houses and churches “beaten almost to pieces” by cannon fire. Now he scribbled a new round of impressions in a black account book, describing the strange sensation of steam-powered travel.


His companion was not such an experienced traveler. Mary Ann Holmes, born and raised in London, probably never dreamed of leaving her home city or of leading a life different from that of her working-class parents, until she crossed paths with Junius Brutus Booth. Less than a year earlier, the young woman had bought a ticket to see Booth act. The experience changed her life, she later explained, and was the reason she followed the actor to this place where sixteen-foot-long alligators patrolled the riverbanks. It was the reason she agreed, unmarried and five months pregnant, to risk a ride toward an uncertain future aboard the Two Brothers, and now, the Powhatan. Mary Ann Holmes had been seduced by genius.


She was born in 1802 to an industrious, deeply pious Anglican couple in Marsh Gate, a poor area of London. Mary Ann, an only child, learned to read and write in a household where scripture was the only reading material allowed. Money was short, which may explain why the parents, who ran a plant nursery, decided to use Mary Ann’s exceptional beauty to boost business. Mr. Holmes sent his daughter to the market at Covent Garden with trays of fresh flowers for sale. Here, in the crowded square before the city’s leading theater, Mary Ann wandered among farm stalls, food venders, jugglers, and fortune tellers, selling bouquets to the audiences who packed the playhouse nightly.


In 1820, Junius Brutus Booth was starring in a hit production of King Lear at Covent Garden theater. His interpretation of the character was so sensational, London newspapers complained the actor was driving the city “Lear-mad.” Day and night, Booth’s admirers howled loudly through the streets, echoing the speeches of the demented king. When Mary Ann saw the play on October 9, she was starstruck. The girl’s attitude toward Booth’s talent, one of her family members said, was nothing less than “reverent.” No record exists of how the flower girl managed to come face-to-face with the actor she idolized. She may have stopped Booth in the market square as he left the theater, or he may have noticed her on his own. However the encounter happened, the meeting left a deep impression on Junius. He placed a large “X” in his diary next to the date October 9, 1820. Years later, one of Mary Ann’s children wrote the words “the night mother first saw my father” beside his inked mark.


Booth was infatuated with the beautiful stranger. He began composing feverish letters to her: in one, he addressed Mary Ann as “my own soul,” and signed the page “your worshipper, Junius.” The actor wrote nearly a hundred letters to the girl in the space of three months, scribbling his feelings onto paper backstage, in his dressing room, nightly from the date of their first meeting to the moment in January 1821 when she at last agreed to run away with him. Junius did not mail these declarations of love to the Holmes household. They were smuggled to Mary Ann in secret, probably pressed into her hand by a messenger as she sold her bouquets in Covent Garden.


The girl told no one about the actor’s letters. Her Anglican parents, Mary Ann later confessed, were “very religious and severe.” Mr. and Mrs. Holmes would have put a stop to the intrigue if they had discovered it. Letters of the kind Booth was writing to their daughter could have only one aim, and it was not honorable. The actor belonged to a higher social class than their own. He possessed a gentleman’s classical education, a refined accent, and money. Whatever other promises he could offer Mary Ann—romance, adventure, material luxuries, entrée to a world beyond the working-class sphere of her birth—marriage was not among them. Junius Brutus Booth already had a wife.


Booth had met Adelaide Delannoy in Brussels in 1814. With the city’s hotels crowded to capacity with officers, diplomats, and journalists, the players in Booth’s troupe were billeted in a large house belonging to Adelaide’s mother, described as “a gentlewoman of good birth and education, having three daughters.” Adelaide was the liveliest of the Delannoy girls. She fell hard for the dashing young player, and when he returned to London, she followed him. French-speaking Adelaide was “not pretty,” Booth’s friends complained. She was also a Catholic, and almost ten years his senior. Yet the Belgian woman was impressively well educated. Junius had been captivated by her quick mind and head for business. The two exchanged vows before an Anglican minister in Bloomsbury. “I am married to Booth since the 8th of May,” Adelaide boasted in an 1815 letter home to her mother. “I am the happiest of women.” She proved a helpmeet to the actor as he soared to fame, advising the younger man on his dealings with fans, newspaper critics, and theater managers. They lived in Booth’s childhood home with his elderly father, in the house where General Washington’s portrait hung in a place of honor on the parlor wall. The couple’s only son, Richard Junius Booth, was born in 1819. Yet the instant he met Mary Ann Holmes, Junius Brutus Booth seems to have made up his mind to leave Adelaide and their shared life completely behind.


If ever there was a moment for a married man to abandon his family on a whim, 1820 was the year to do it. By then, many of the leading artists and intellectuals of Booth’s generation—poets Lord Byron and Percy Bysshe Shelley, pioneering feminist Mary Wollstonecraft, and philosopher William Godwin—had declared war on the institution of marriage. Byron’s one-man campaign of free love created a public sensation. The aristocrat had affairs with hundreds of women—married and unmarried, blue-blooded and common, youthful and mature—and liked to celebrate his exploits in witty, wildly popular verses. One of his poems, “The Corsair,” sold ten thousand copies in a day. London gossips whispered the insatiable Byron pursued young men as well, and even shared a sexual relationship with his half sister. Shelley was no less scandalous. This poet seduced Mary Wollstonecraft’s sixteen-year-old daughter, Mary Godwin, deserting his own wife to take the girl to a love nest in Switzerland. Nine months later, the precocious teenager had given birth to Shelley’s illegitimate child and composed literature’s first work of science fiction, Frankenstein.


To these Romantics, marriage was a form of slavery. The lifelong legal bond was an impediment to freedom and self-expression, stifling the creative force of human passion. “In the cold, formal English world,” one devotee of Shelley explained, “the yoke of marriage is an iron one that crushes those who have once thrown it over their necks.” Booth agreed. The actor idolized Byron and Shelley, taking inspiration from their bold, rebellious philosophy. Junius told Mary Ann the men were always in his thoughts. “These are my companions,” the actor declared, indicating the extensive collection of Byron’s and Shelley’s writings he owned and obsessively read. “With them, time never wearies, and the eloquent teachings that fall from their leaves are counselors and guides.”


Booth’s letters alone were not enough to part Mary Ann Holmes from her family. Adultery was a serious step for a young woman to contemplate, especially one raised in a pious household like the Holmeses’. If she cast her lot with Booth, Mary Ann risked life as an outcast. English society expelled Byron and Shelley for their sins. The two poets died in exile, yearning for home. Adulterers wore their brand for life, and their offspring suffered a hard fate. Any children she bore to Booth would have no lawful right to their father’s surname and could not inherit his property. They would be persons in limbo, portionless and without a legal identity. The benefits of her future at this actor’s side would have to outweigh the considerable costs.


Desperate to press his case, Junius presented the eighteen-year-old with a ten-volume edition of Byron’s Works beautifully bound in leather. Cautiously hiding the expensive volumes in her bedroom, Mary Ann remembered, she would “get up at night and read these books at her window by moonlight,” evading her mother’s watchful eye. Most right-thinking parents banned Byron from the shelves of schoolroom and parlor, seeing his poetry as a danger to girlhood purity. The poet laughed at this prohibition. “There has been an eleventh commandment to women not to read [my work],” he crowed. “But that can be of little import to them, poor things—for the reading or non-reading of a book will never keep down a single petticoat.” The author underestimated his own writing. Mary Ann later indicated to her children that it had been Byron’s poetry that tipped the balance in her mind in favor of accepting Booth’s proposal.


Most teenagers found Byron’s catalog of sexual escapades fascinating, but the poems’ real danger lay elsewhere. In everything he wrote, Byron taught his youthful readers one lesson: life held no greater reward than romantic passion. His verse, like a rhyming, titillating Declaration of Independence, urged young people to defy their parents and pursue true love, whatever the cost. Mary Ann was intoxicated by the message. Decades later, twelve-year-old John Wilkes Booth would recite Byron’s poem “The Giaour” to his mother and father. The gesture was perhaps the child’s way of celebrating the renegade beginnings of his parents’ love affair.


Mary Ann was awed to discover that Junius and the author of these poems belonged to the same circle. Byron had sat on the board of directors of Drury Lane, the theater where Booth often performed. Byron prowled the greenroom for sexually available actresses, and picked drinking companions from the company of male stars. To show his admiration for Booth’s genius onstage, the actor told Mary Ann, Lord Byron had sent Booth his portrait. This tiny watercolor was a treasure, a miniature of Byron’s face painted in detail on an oval of ivory. Instead of a wedding ring, Booth gave the poet’s picture to Mary Ann. Taking the ornament to a jeweler, he requested it be “backed in gold and set for a lady’s brooch.”


She finally eloped with Junius Brutus Booth on January 18, 1821. Packing for her escape, the flower girl tucked the ten-volume set of Byron’s poems into her trunk, but she left the actor’s letters behind. At the throat of her dress, she pinned Lord Byron’s cameo. She wore it proudly, a badge of her newfound belief in free love. A distraught Mr. and Mrs. Holmes woke the next morning to find their daughter gone. They ransacked her room for clues to her whereabouts. To their horror they found “ninety-three letters from Booth and a dark lantern,” the device that helped Mary Ann read secretly after lights out.


The runaways could not stay in London. Actors’ reputations were fragile things, and audiences fickle. A charge of bigamy could put an end to Booth’s stardom. Lord Byron owned vast estates in the north of England. Shelley was the pampered heir of a baronet. Their inherited fortunes freed them to defy social rules, but Junius Brutus Booth was no aristocrat. This middle-class son of a lawyer had a living to earn.


A solution came in the form of a letter from Romantic philosopher William Godwin. Godwin was infamous for his attacks on the institution of marriage. The lifelong bond, he wrote, was “the worst of all laws” and “the most odious of all monopolies.” Marriage was “evil,” Godwin declared, “a fraud,” “an irretrievable mistake.” It would be far better, he argued, for men and women to pursue “sensual intercourse” and “affairs” freely, according to “the unforced consent of either party.” Like most London Romantics, Godwin was a great admirer of Booth’s volcanic acting. His letter to the young star was filled with praise and encouragement. Reading it, Junius must have felt as if this man, whose daughter had had an affair with Shelley, was sanctioning his and Mary Ann’s adulterous plans. Godwin knew what it was like to feel “the brutal outcry” of public disapproval, he said. The best way to avoid scandal, the philosopher told Booth, was to leave the country: “the whole British dominions [are] before you, which you may visit with undiminished fame.”


Booth acted on Godwin’s advice. He chose a destination for himself and Mary Ann that he hoped would ensure a happier ending to their story than Byron’s or Shelley’s. In America, the two young people could keep the truth about their illicit relationship hidden. They would make a fresh start overseas, in a place where any children they might have would never feel the shame of illegitimacy, a place where Mary Ann could not be labeled an adulteress. Of all nations on earth, America seemed made for them. In its short history, the Republic proved a happy resort for separatists, individualists, risk takers, and sectarians. The new country, they believed, nurtured every stripe of Protestant, as well as Catholics, Jews, Quakers, and Shakers. Surely it would welcome two secret devotees of free love? Booth knew that Lord Byron so admired the United States and what he imagined were its tolerant, freethinking ways, he declared he would “rather have a nod from an American than a snuff-box from an Emperor.” History would prove him to be misguided on this point.


Adelaide Booth did not know her husband was abandoning her. She had no idea Mary Ann Holmes existed. Junius hid his intentions from the strong-minded Catholic woman. He spun her a story about British audiences tiring of his acting. A tour of United States, he declared, would rejuvenate his career and bring new wealth to the family accounts. “Never creature was more ardent for fame than I am for yours,” Mrs. Booth replied, praying that “honor” would come to him in the country across the Atlantic “as fast as [his] impatient spirit could desire.” She loyally offered to go with him, but Junius hastily objected. Their three-year-old son, he said, was “too young for the voyage.” Booth warned his wife he might be gone for several years. He gave her money enough to live on for the next twelve months, promising to send “50 pounds a year” or more, as his future success in America allowed.


Only Junius’s father knew the truth. After the actor and Mary Ann made their escape from London, Richard Booth paid a visit to Mary Ann’s parents. In words that destroyed all hope, the lawyer explained to Mr. and Mrs. Holmes that their daughter was on her way to America to “live with Booth.” He assured them Junius would provide well for the girl, even though he could not marry her.


Mary Ann Holmes called herself Mrs. Booth now. In the summer of 1821, as the couple leaned on the rail of the Powhatan and watched the water of the James River flow past, they were hopeful and confident. Booth had the promise of an engagement in Richmond, Virginia. Mary Ann’s pregnancy seemed to be progressing well. Booth had packed William Godwin’s letter blessing their enterprise in his luggage. Mary Ann had Byron’s portrait to wear. The letter and the oval brooch survived all the tumultuous decades of the couple’s future life together. Long after their parents were dead, the children of Junius and Mary Ann would value these items among their family’s most prized possessions, tangible proofs of the people and ideas responsible for launching the Booths’ fortunes in America.





TWO


O BRAVE NEW WORLD


O, wonder!
How many goodly creatures are there here!
How beauteous mankind is! O brave new world,
That has such people in’t!


—Tempest, 5.1


AFTER TWO DAYS LISTENING TO POWHATAN’S ENGINES CHURN, MARY ANN and Junius probably longed to see the city of Richmond appear around a bend in the James. Riverboat accommodations in 1821 were far from luxurious. Close to a hundred passengers crammed into a main cabin that was divided by a curtain into gentlemen’s and ladies’ salons. Twice a day, this barrier was pushed aside to allow a meal of corn bread, steaks, and hot coffee to be served on a makeshift table of long planks laid across the length of the room. Water for the passengers to drink was hoisted directly from the muddy river. Stewards always dipped their water buckets off the port side, while chamber pot refuse was tipped over the starboard rail.


Male passengers played cards and chewed tobacco to pass the time, females did “fancy work,” and everyone “became more or less intimate,” one river traveler remembered, as the steamer “puffed and paddled its way along.” Mary Ann and Junius might have climbed to the boiler deck where “gaping armchairs” awaited those who wished to sit peacefully, smoke a pipe, and take in the view.


After a quick and intense courtship, this couple was learning to know one another better. Mary Ann would have noted Booth was almost hysterically sensitive to the physical suffering of animals. Any overworked horse or abused farm animal spotted along their journey could move Booth to melancholy tears. Even an insect in plight sent the actor springing to the rescue. Blind to social convention, he would plunge his hand into a dining partner’s cup of milk or wine to save a fly from drowning.


Mary Ann discovered that Booth was obsessed with vegetarianism. Like Percy Shelley, Junius refused to eat fish or meat. “Man was not intended to make Earth a Slaughter-house of innocent animals,” he told her earnestly, echoing the poet he idolized. Some Romantics demonstrated their love for Nature in this way, arguing humans had a sacred responsibility to protect all creatures. Pointing to the abundance of food freely available from plant sources—beans, peas, grains, fruits, vegetables—Booth concluded that “it is unnecessary for Man to eat Animal flesh.” Such principles were more than a century ahead of social acceptance. Advocates of vegetarianism in the 1820s were widely considered freakish, even deranged. To Mary Ann’s dismay, Booth did not keep his controversial views private. She might be mortified at any moment in a restaurant or tavern if Booth was in the mood to evangelize. Seeing someone eating so much as an oyster, the actor’s brow would darken and he would whisper “Murderer! Murderer!” at the offending person in sepulchral tones.


Booth showed similar distress when he saw America’s wilderness being destroyed at a breathtaking pace. Tourists on the James River at this time recalled that “the eye was pained” by the sight of primeval forests along the riverbanks being laid to ruin by fire and the axe. Novelist Charles Dickens, one of many to ride Powhatan’s route, wrote that “it was quite sad and oppressive to come upon great tracts where settlers had been burning down the trees, and where their wounded bodies lay about, like those of murdered creatures.” In years to come, Junius Brutus Booth became notorious for his angry, futile protests against the hunting of native species and the cutting down of forests. “I wish to testify, in some public way,” he would say with anguish, “against this wanton destruction of life.”


Powhatan reached Richmond on July 3, 1821. The city’s grand residences and buildings perched on a range of steep hills near the water. The biggest structures were the workshops where Virginia’s tobacco crop was chopped, scented, and flavored for smoking and chewing. Knowing that General Washington, the man he had been taught to “revere and hallow” since childhood, once danced “minuets, reels and congos” at Galt’s Tavern on Main Street filled Booth with amazement. Equally marvelous was the knowledge that the author of the Declaration of Independence lived and breathed nearby. Thomas Jefferson’s great mansion, Monticello, was less than fifty miles away. Filled with patriotic enthusiasm, Booth wanted to make his debut the very next night. It had to be explained to the actor that July Fourth was a sacred and solemn occasion. Parades by local militia, ceremonial readings of the Declaration of Independence, and salutes to the heroes of 1776 would occupy Richmond’s citizens.


Booth met with the manager of the Marshall Theatre, an impresario named Gilfert, the day he arrived. Anticipating huge profits, Gilfert signed the Covent Garden celebrity to a two-week contract, agreeing on July 6 for opening night. Booth did not like the man. “There is something in Gilfert which occasions an involuntary shudder,” Booth wrote. The manager did have something to hide. There was a grisly backstory to the Marshall Theatre’s existence, a tale that surely would have put Booth on the alert had he known it. In time, the Booth family’s history would prove sadly intertwined with the Marshall. A decade later, a messenger would track Booth to the Marshall’s stage with news that would change the actor’s life forever. Two of his sons would perform at the Marshall as well, with ill-fated results. But for now, few people wanted to discuss why they needed to build a new theater in Richmond. In the words of one resident, the explanation was “too shocking to dwell upon.”


Ten years before, a gem of a theater, the Old Academy, stood proudly at the center of Richmond. It had been the favorite resort of Virginia’s plantation aristocrats, politicians, and social elites. On Christmas Eve 1811, six hundred people dressed in the height of fashion—including the governor of Virginia, his wife, and his daughter—packed the Academy’s three-tiered auditorium to enjoy a musical performance. At half-past ten o’clock, a rain of fire fell from the Academy’s ceiling onto the people below. As the clothes of actors and audience burst into flames, one witness remembered, the theater rang with “blood-chilling” screams and panicked shouts. Chaos erupted as audience members tried to shield “an affectionate wife, a tender child, an aged parent” from burning. The scene outside was no better. People tried to escape the fire by jumping out of the Academy’s third-story windows. They died on hitting the frozen ground below, or were crushed by others jumping after. The governor managed to exit safely, but a crowd of onlookers saw him turn around and dash back into flames. His wife and daughter were trapped within; he died at their side.


The fire claimed nearly a hundred lives. Many victims hesitated to flee the burning theater because they believed a slave uprising in the streets outside was responsible for the fire. Only later was it learned that actors, not slaves, were to blame. It was the job of performers to guard the massive oil lamps that shed light on the stage. To be on “swabbing duty,” as it was then called, meant standing near one of these lamps with a water-soaked mop, ready to extinguish escaping sparks. Distracted by the night’s holiday music, one swab neglected his work. A stray flame flew up to the ceiling unseen, setting the rafters on fire.


Richmond’s civic leaders banned all public entertainments as penance, they said, for “the most horrid disaster” ever to strike their city. After the bodies and charred wreckage had been cleared away, Robert Mills, architect of the Washington Monument, built a church on the site, consecrated to the memory of those who died in the theater disaster. Mills’s Monumental Church stands there today.


By 1821, boredom had eaten away at the city’s puritanical resolve. Sources of amusement were scarce. Books and paintings were hard to come by for most people, while objects like pianos, harps, and music boxes were rarer still. Richmond’s citizens were hungry for entertainment. Ten years after the fire, they were willing to tempt fate inside a theater once more, lining up by the thousands to see Junius Brutus Booth in the gory spectacle of Richard III.


The actor chose to give the city Shakespeare’s bloodcurdling tale of fratricide and conspiracy because this was the role that had lifted him out of obscurity in London and made him a star. British audiences loved to watch Richard kill everyone ahead of him in line to England’s throne. His victims included women and small children as well as his own loving brother, John. Richard murders his rivals in inventive ways, poisoning, impaling, beheading, and even smothering them to death with pillows. Worst—or perhaps best—of all was the scene where the evil genius plans for his brother John to be shoved headfirst into a cask of malmsey until drowned.


Booth made his entrance in silence, sidling before the footlights in Richard’s hitching, hunchbacked gait. Dangling a sword in front of him as he walked, he kicked moodily at the blade while an uncomfortable silence built in the theater. Booth mumbled the play’s first line, “Now is the winter of our discontent,” one witness remembered, like a “school-boy repeating a lesson.” The Richmond crowd traded incredulous glances. Manager Gilfert had promised them the “best actor living.” People started muttering that Booth was an imposter and that they had been duped. At this instant, Booth performed the frightening trick that never failed, the poet Walt Whitman would later testify, to make “a shudder [go] through every nervous system in the audience.” He let the audience watch the spirit of Shakespeare’s power-hungry monster slowly possess his body.


Booth, now fully in character, ordered a beheading, making a chopping motion with one hand. A sickening note crept into the actor’s voice as he plotted the deaths of two little boys, nephews ahead of him in line to the throne. “Why, I can smile, and murder whiles I smile,” he purred. Booth’s supporting actors stopped in their tracks, dumbstruck by the change in him. Some forgot their lines, standing speechless until the star momentarily broke character, poked them in the ribs, and whispered “Go on, go on!”


In the climactic battle scene, newspapers reported next morning, the actor dashed to the edge of the stage “his face the ashy hue of death, his limbs trembling, his eyes rolling and gleaming with an unearthly glare, and his form convulsed with intense excitement.” Sweat oozed grotesquely from his forehead, drenching his hair and pasting it to his cheeks. Richard’s dying words—filled, critics said, with “despair, hate, and grief”—echoed from every corner of the Marshall. The Richmond Enquirer declared Booth’s acting “the most striking we have ever beheld.”


Letters from theater managers in New York, Philadelphia, Boston, New Orleans, and Baltimore poured into Richmond, offering Booth generous terms and expressing their “anxious desire to see him.” The most important invitation came from Manhattan’s Park Theatre. Eager to build on his Richmond success with an appearance in what was even then America’s cultural capital, Junius and Mary Ann packed their trunks once more. They rode Powhatan back down the James River to Norfolk, where they could catch Fidelity, an oceangoing steamboat, to New York.


A week’s journey up the desolate Atlantic coastline ended with Fidelity joining a parade of other steamboats, ships, and barges pressing across New York harbor, flags fluttering and smokestacks billowing white, to reach the wharves. The city of New York, according to residents in those days, was “an immense hive teeming with human bees.” The most populous place in the country, it was twice the size of its nearest competitors, Philadelphia and Baltimore. In 1821, over 120,000 people swarmed the southern tip of Manhattan, intent on earning a living. Even then the natives boasted, “New York is a fast city. The very fastest in all creation. Its men are fast, its women are fast, and so are its horses. Everything goes with a rush.”


THE CITY WOULD SEEM TINY NOW. THE METROPOLIS THEN COVERED ONLY a small quadrangle of land, bounded by rivers, between Tenth Street and the Battery. Above Tenth, all was vegetable gardens, cornfields or pasture, with here and there a country house. Gramercy Park, where Junius and Mary Ann’s future son would stake his mansion and play host to a president, was then an empty lot overgrown with grass and gooseberry bushes. The tall buildings that would make Manhattan a maze of steep-sided canyons were a century away. For now, modest structures lined the avenues, built of brick or wood. But as one city dweller predicted at the time, “the mighty magician of Progress” was waving his wand over the place: “the march of New York is onward.”


The Park Theatre stood at the edge of a public garden between Fulton and Chambers streets, steps from City Hall and bordered by the homes of Manhattan’s merchant princes. Like the choice real estate around it, the Park was “stylish and select,” charging steep admission to keep out undesirables.


Junius’s old nemesis Edmund Kean haunted him even in New York. The London star had played the Park only months before, scoring, reviewers agreed, “a complete triumph” in the city. Booth found himself needing to surpass his older rival once again. Luckily for Junius, one resident of the city wrote at the time, “in New York the wheels of Fortune are always revolving—one man goes up today, and another goes down tomorrow.”


Ever since Richmond, Mary Ann had had work to do. A skilled seamstress, she took charge of unpacking and repairing Booth’s costumes. The costumes had lain too long in their steamer trunks. Musty velvets needed to be brushed and aired, the matted fur trim on robes and tunics repaired. She helped Booth sort through jewel-encrusted stage weapons, royal scepters, collars, and crowns, securing any glass gem, bead, or stone that had fallen loose. She learned to help him put on stage wigs, mustaches, and beards, and even mastered the trick of buckling Richard III’s prosthetic hump over the actor’s shoulders.


The hardest job behind the scenes, she soon learned, was keeping Booth cheerful. Adelaide Booth, in her role as wifely dramatic coach, often talked the star out of what she called his “vexations.” As his fame increased, Junius developed a capricious, perfectionist temperament. Some nights, if he did not feel inspired to act, or if he believed the audience would misunderstand his work, he plunged into a black mood and refused to go onstage. Professing to “hate” acting, Booth would croak he never wanted to do it again. It then fell to Adelaide, and later to Mary Ann, to soothe his qualms and coax a performance out of him. Sometimes a glass of brandy helped the star recover his will to act. The night of October 6, 1821, Mary Ann probably did not have to worry. Winning New York’s favor was crucial to Booth’s plans. If the couple were to have a chance at a prosperous life together in the United States, the actor knew, he needed to make his appearance in this reigning city a hit.


Rainstorms soaked Manhattan that night, flooding streets and immobilizing the traffic on Broadway, but the New York Evening Post reported that a capacity crowd braved the elements to see Booth in action. After the curtain fell on Richard III, two thousand rain-drenched New Yorkers jumped to their feet, roaring, cheering, stomping feet, and clapping hands in an ovation that lasted for nearly ten minutes. Junius was so overcome he could not speak. Stepping before the worshipful crowd, newspapers reported, the actor bowed silent thanks, his entire body shaking with emotion. The verdict on Booth’s genius was unanimous. “We cannot withhold from him our highest praise,” announced the Post; “he made an extraordinary impression.” Booth “broke through all rules and all traditions,” another critic wrote, achieving something “beyond any of his kind on record.”


During his first American season, Booth’s profits from sold-out shows topped one hundred dollars per night. Performing for a week to ten days each in Richmond, New York, Baltimore, Charleston, Savannah, New Orleans, Boston, Providence, and Washington, D.C., he raked in thousands. Mary Ann kept pace with Booth’s grueling tour schedule until her pregnancy became too advanced. In December 1821, while Junius traveled down the Mississippi River to dazzle audiences in New Orleans, Mary Ann gave birth alone in a boardinghouse in Charleston. She named her newborn Junius Brutus, Jr. When Booth rejoined her and the baby several months later, he was flush with new wealth and the news that he could afford to buy a comfortable estate for her and the “dear darling child.”


The actor’s eye had fallen on a piece of property in Harford County, Maryland. It would prove a fateful choice as things turned out, but the decision seemed practical to Junius at the time. “No city in the world has a more beautiful countryside around it than Baltimore,” a tourist wrote in 1821. Harford County lay beyond the city limits, a sleepy place where fruit orchards and plots of rich farmland made little islands of human activity in what was otherwise a wilderness. Booth, lured by the promise of privacy, made a down payment on 150 acres of forest there in May 1822. “Tis a lovely spot,” a visitor later said, but “remote and lonely.”


Travelers had to follow twenty-five miles of rough country road northeast from Baltimore, then thread their way through a “thick growth of trees” to find the clearing where Booth’s log cabin stood, plastered white, with bright red shutters. Massive beech trees, oaks, and walnuts cast the farmhouse in constant shadow. Because he was not an American citizen, the laws of Maryland barred Junius from owning land in the state. The English actor escaped the provision in the customary way, by paying Richard Hall, original owner of the cabin and its acreage, for a lease of one thousand years.


Mary Ann Holmes was not used to country quiet. The Londoner born and raised craved nothing more, she told Booth, than “the social world, and the amusements which present themselves, in so many shapes, in populous towns.” Yet the cabin Junius chose for her was hemmed in by a forest so vast and thick, one visitor remembered, it was like an impenetrable green wall stretching “as far as the eye could reach.” Such isolation was a hard prospect for a young woman who had been seduced away from city life by promises of romance and adventure.


The spotlight of celebrity shone more brightly on this couple in the United States than either of them had anticipated. After Booth’s successes in Richmond and New York, newspapers started tracking the actor’s movements and showed an interest in his beautiful traveling companion. Norfolk papers ran sightings of “Mr. Booth and Lady” when the pair disembarked from a steamboat or checked into a hotel, and other port cities were the same. So much ink was expended on the actor that one journal ran an editorial defending its Booth obsession: “Next to political and economical concerns, there is no more legitimate object of newspaper attention than the most respectable and classical of public spectacles, the Stage.” Junius was alarmed by the press scrutiny, worrying the story he told of his and Mary Ann’s legal union would eventually be exposed as fake. He also discovered that ships crossed between New York and London rather too frequently for his peace of mind. Many British actors visited Manhattan, and all of them knew Junius Brutus Booth. They might ask questions about the young woman and infant at his side, and perhaps carry stories back home to Adelaide Booth.


The only way to keep his mistress and her baby a secret was to hide them deep in the country. There they would be far from the notice of gossiping actors and scandal-minded journalists, and safely beyond the reach of his wife.


The few families with farms near Booth’s new home guessed the actor was looking for a hiding place. Mrs. Elijah Rogers, Junius’s neighbor for thirty years, later told an interviewer that the actor’s “object in moving to our county was to seclude himself as far as possible from all acquaintances.” Booth’s children agreed, saying their father’s “chief delight” in his property “was that it was so perfectly shut in, and away from the world.” It must have been hard for Booth to imagine the past catching up with him and Mary Ann here. Once a week, a postman on horseback tossed a packet of mail over the fence surrounding what the actor liked to call his “Big Woods”; otherwise no one disturbed the sanctuary. There was a tiny village, Bel Air, three miles distant where a general store sold necessities like coffee, whiskey, candles, sugar, soap, and writing paper.


A glance at a map of the United States in 1821 reveals the other reason the actor chose Harford County for his home base. Booth needed money. Supporting two households, Adelaide’s and Mary Ann’s, was going to be expensive. Audiences across the twenty-four states promised to reward the actor’s talents generously, but to reach these paying crowds Booth had to travel thousands of miles. Throughout the fall, winter, and spring he would be gone, riding stagecoaches, riverboats, and ocean steamers to destinations along the demanding nine-month touring route typical of a traveling star. To turn an annual profit, Booth visited a dozen or so cities on a circuitous path from Albany and Boston in the North to Charleston and New Orleans in the South. The port of Baltimore, only a day’s ride from Booth’s cabin in the forest, was an ideal transportation hub.


Junius broke the news to Mary Ann that he could afford to spend only the three summer months with her on their new property. Faced with the reality of being stranded alone in the woods for most of each year, she was crushed. “What could he do else?” the actor wrote. “Was he not forced to make money?” For company, Junius bought the young woman three huge Newfoundland dogs. It was a small gesture, but a significant one: Lord Byron himself was devoted to the breed. Byron had written a famous ode praising the animals’ fidelity and capacity for friendship. He even declared he should be buried next to Boatswain, his beloved Newfoundland. Mary Ann gave the same name, Boatswain, to one of her new pets. She chained them close to the cabin during the daytime, but freed them to roam the acreage at night. The animals warned off anyone who bothered her. Years later, neighbors remembered how “Mrs. Booth” had “three very large dogs as protectors” while the man they presumed to be her husband was away from home. Neighbors knew little else about how the British woman spent her days, remarking she “did not visit” anyone.


Junius asked his widowed father, sixty-three-year-old Richard Booth, to close his London law practice and join Mary Ann in the wilderness. The elder Booth agreed, landing in Baltimore in the fall of 1822, his trunks packed with books in Latin and Greek. He was a curious sight, this amateur classical scholar, with his long white hair, a hobbling walk, and eccentric eighteenth-century garments. As much as he loved his son, Richard Booth took no interest in farming. Complaining that the cabin in the forest felt as desolate as “Robinson Crusoe’s Island,” the elder Booth buried himself in the work of adapting Virgil’s Aeneid into an English-language drama.


The actor had plans for his country property. Maryland’s rich soil and temperate growing season produced crops in abundance. Local people cultivated tomatoes, sweet corn, okra, potatoes, rhubarb, grapes, peaches, pears, apricots, and apples in addition to wheat, barley, and other grains. If the work could be done to clear fields for planting and if orchards, vineyards, and gardens could be established, Booth’s farm might in time come to supply all the family’s needs. Junius hoped his father would take a break from his studies to help Mary Ann supervise the many construction projects and agricultural schemes he had in mind, but this was not to be. All too soon, Richard Booth embarked on a love affair with the locally distilled whiskey he could buy from the Bel Air General Store for nineteen cents a gallon. Booth was dismayed, but perhaps not surprised, at his father’s weakness. “I have witnessed often with regret the terrible ravages [drinking] has made both on your mind and Body,” he wrote to his father while on tour in 1822. “Refrain from that destructive and Sense-depriving custom of getting intoxicated. Madness will be the result if you persist.” Junius wrote that Richard’s drinking made it impossible to entrust him with the work of “overlook[ing] the Servants and Laborers, that I many not be cheated and robbed on every side.”


Condemned to this strange, isolated existence with Booth’s difficult parent, Mary Ann made the best of her situation. She took charge of carrying out the actor’s instructions for improving the farm. Junius had leased a team of slaves from a neighboring farmer. A group of men and women were bound to the actor by labor contracts renewable each year. Joe Hall, a tall, soft-spoken man who traced his origins to the island of Madagascar, was hired by Booth to plow his fields, plant his gardens, and tend his livestock. In time, Hall was able to purchase the freedom of his wife, Ann, a slave from a nearby farm. Ann Hall then came to work in the Booth cabin, cooking, cleaning, and washing clothes. A group of carpenters from Baltimore built a barn, dairy, and stables near the cabin to shelter horses, oxen, cows, flocks of sheep, hogs, and chickens. A peach orchard was put in, and a large grove of apple trees. Bricklayers came to build an outdoor oven for bread baking, while carpenters made a cider press and constructed vats for winemaking.


Joe Hall was the leader of the workforce in Junius’s absence, the person Mary Ann relied on to carry out the actor’s commands. Booth’s letters to his home overflowed with assignments: “Joe had best soon get up the potatoes & bring them carefully,” read a typical note. “Joe must fit up the Garden Paling so as to prevent the fowls getting in, and it is time now to sow Radishes and Carrots. Beets and Parsnips will do the latter end of this month. Peas and cucumbers the beginning of next.” Observing with approval that Joe was not “fond of using the infernal whip” when driving horses or oxen to plow, Booth charged this man, whom local people described as a “Madagascan Prince,” with caring for the livestock. “Pray see all my quadrupeds be taken care of,” Booth instructed him, “and not overworked as they are not too strong this Season of the Year.” The vegetarian continued, “should the cows have calves, I don’t wish them to be made meat for the Butcher as it is in direct opposition to my Religion.”


Each summer, the actor took a break from touring and returned home, spending time with Mary Ann and pitching in to the work of the farm. “Soon after sunrise,” a family member recalled, the travel-weary star would rush rejuvenated out of bed to “dig in his garden, whistling while he worked.” Junius took the most happiness, however, one neighbor recalled, from the sight of his and Mary Ann’s growing flock of children being cared for and fed.


“Nearly all the children were born in that house, log as it was,” recalled one of Mary Ann’s neighbors, marveling at the young woman’s fortitude. There was a doctor in nearby Bel Air, but Mary Ann sent for him only in emergencies. She gave birth usually in late autumn or early winter when Junius was on the road, presumably laboring before a fireplace in one of the cabin’s upstairs bedrooms. Enemas of salt and pig fat were popular treatments for the pain of childbirth. Mary Ann might also have gulped an opiate tea brewed from poppies, soaked her feet in hot water, or chewed pieces of ice to alleviate discomfort. A sheet knotted around the bedpost was to pull on when the birth pangs grew unbearable. At the crucial moment, a midwife inserted a hand “well greased with lard” into the birth canal to help the baby emerge safely.


Mary Ann’s firstborn son, Junius Brutus Jr., was called “June,” an echo of Byron’s Don Juan. He was followed by a daughter, Rosalie, in 1823. In 1825, Mary Ann’s second son, Henry Byron, named in honor of her favorite poet, arrived. Eighteen twenty-seven brought another daughter, Mary, and 1829 a third son, Frederick. A baby named Elizabeth was born in 1831. Away from these children for months at a time, Junius wrote letters home from wherever he happened to be—New York, New Orleans, Philadelphia—that overflowed with solicitude. “Let nothing be neglected to keep them in health,” the anxious father instructed. “Particularly their feet should always be dry & good shoes provided for them.” The toddlers especially “must not go out in the wet. Nothing is more dangerous.”


Junius Brutus Booth rarely expressed fear for Mary Ann’s health in these letters, though puerperal or “childbirth” fever—an infection spread to laboring women by a physician’s unwashed hands—killed many women in the nineteenth century. Mary Ann avoided it because the women hired to work on the Booth property were excellent midwives. People from different parts of Africa or the Caribbean brought a wealth of skills and specialized knowledge to the places of their enslavement. Little is known about Ann Hall’s origins, but with her help and that of other skilled women, the mother of the Maryland Booths never contracted childbirth fever. Even Joe Hall practiced a custom from his native place when Mary Ann gave birth. One Booth child remembered watching this man, who worked grueling hours in the fields by day, spending “long winter evenings” weaving straw of different colors into “cradle-baskets for the babies.”


The first decade Mary Ann Holmes and Junius Brutus Booth spent in the United States was a prosperous one. All along Booth’s tour route, ticket sales boomed. American theater managers in the 1820s considered him a “highly successful” draw and were eager to book the British star. “I have seen him act Richard many times as no other man could or can act it,” one New Orleans theater proprietor remembered, “and have seen the whole house, pit, boxes and gallery, on their feet to do honor to Booth.”


Junius was earning enough to keep his father, Mary Ann, and her children in comfort. He could even afford to splurge on some luxuries. One of his first major expenditures, unrelated to improvements on his farm, was commissioning a portrait of Mary Ann Holmes. He could not marry the mother of his growing flock of children, but he could show his devotion to her with costly gifts. In 1823 the actor learned Thomas Sully, the premier American portrait artist, was renting a studio in Baltimore. Sully was fresh from a long residence with Thomas Jefferson at Monticello, where he had been at work on his masterpiece, a full-length portrait of the ailing, eighty-year-old Founding Father. Sully was expensive to hire. The leading families of Boston, New York, and Philadelphia were his clients, as well as occupants of the White House from John Adams to Andrew Jackson. For Junius Brutus Booth to hire Jefferson’s portraitist to paint his mistress’s picture—even before he had accumulated enough money to make the final payment on his Maryland farm—was a grand gesture indeed.


Junius Brutus Booth tried to maintain a balance between his families on each side of the Atlantic. After Sully completed the portrait of Mary Ann, the actor hired a London society artist to paint Adelaide Booth and her seven-year-old son, Richard. The artist, a Mr. Williams, sent a flattering note to Junius along with the bill: “my greatest ambition would be to attempt your portrait in one of your favorite characters.”


Junius continued to postpone the date of his London return, but Adelaide was unconcerned. Her husband’s letters to her in this period, written three or four times a year, were long and affectionate, concealing the truth about the existence of his second family. He wrote openly to Adelaide about the ambition burning inside him, his love for his art, and his struggles with an emotional sensitivity that at times threatened to sour his relationship with the American public. She in turn wrote back encouraging words, urging Junius to treat audiences with respect so as to secure their loyalty for the next season, and their money. Curtain calls, she said, were crucial. “I can easily understand it would be preferable to drag our weary limbs and exhausted frame to our dressing room,” she advised the actor, but the audience’s desire to have “the pleasure of looking on you” after a show must be respected. Junius kept up an intimate correspondence with her, Adelaide marveled years afterward, “as though nothing had happened.” Booth sent his wife a share of his stage profits along with each letter. For many years cash arrived from him, Adelaide testified later, “with promptitude, and often in excess of what was promised.”


But Booth was haunted by fear of discovery. Isolation in the country kept Mary Ann away from the notice of American newspapers, but in 1825 an anonymous item ran in London’s Sunday Monitor accusing Booth of “deserting his wife and child—stripping them of even common necessities—and seducing from the roof of a father an infatuated girl to follow a traitorous husband to another quarter of the world.” The source of the story was not given—perhaps the angry parents of Mary Ann Holmes were striking a blow at the man who ruined their daughter. Fortunately for Junius, the report did not go far. Adelaide remained in the dark. She was visiting her mother in Brussels at the time the short article appeared.


In 1826 a souvenir-crazed theater fan broke into Richard Booth’s luggage while the elderly man was staying at a Baltimore hotel. The thief stole some personal letters, craving samples of Junius’s handwriting. The actor was terrified by this theft. The letters he wrote to his parent often listed the payments he made to Adelaide, and on occasion discussed arrangements for Mary Ann and her illegitimate children to inherit his property upon his death. “The prosperity of Bel Air of course I shall bequeath to Mary Ann, Junius, Rosalie and Henry Byron,” the actor had written to his lawyer father, explaining that Adelaide and her son should be given the Booths’ London-based assets. Anyone reading those words would hold the key to the family’s reputation, to Mary Ann and her children’s good name. Junius warned his father to be on guard in the future. “Lock well your trunk!” he cried. “Or if there be aught [in] my letters that should not be hawked about as ‘Neighbor’s News’ always destroy it as soon as read.”


The delicate equilibrium Booth established between his wife in London and the new family he had hidden away in the Maryland woods could not last. Welcoming his return to the farm each summer, Mary Ann gradually observed a change, a slow unraveling, in the man who had brought her there. The actor’s annual treks to every corner of the United States were altering him in ways no one could have anticipated. The serious, ambitious actor whose foremost wish—after building a new life with the woman he loved—had been securing his fame as an artist, started to falter onstage. He became careless and erratic, and the family’s prosperity suffered. The star’s steady decline had consequences for Mary Ann and her children, especially Edwin and John Wilkes, two sons unlucky enough to arrive as their father accelerated toward disaster. Sol Smith, a theatrical manager who knew Junius well, explained what happened. Booth “was a truly great actor and continued to be so,” Smith wrote, “until he fell into bad company in New Orleans, and took to hard drink.” This dedicated artist who once viewed his father’s drinking with dismay became a new, self-destructive man. Thereafter, Smith opined sadly, “Booth was nobody’s enemy but his own.”





THREE


THIS BE MADNESS


Though this be madness, yet there is a method in’t.


—Hamlet, 2.2


IN 1823, BOOTH WAS IN WASHINGTON, D.C., AT THE HEIGHT OF HIS SECOND national tour of the United States. At the Washington Theatre, Booth offered members of President James Monroe’s administration a bill of Shakespeare for their evening entertainment, playing Richard III, King Lear, and Othello. After curtain, Junius Booth could be found at O’Neale’s Tavern near Capitol Hill “industriously circulating the bottle,” as one witness described his method, with a pair of American folk heroes, the great Daniel Webster and a new member of Congress from the backwoods of Tennessee, Sam Houston.


Houston had volunteered as a lieutenant under the command of General Andrew Jackson in the War of 1812, surviving an arrow shot to his leg and two rifle balls in his arm while battling British-backed Creek Indians for control of the Arkansas Territory. Elected to Congress in 1823, he would rise in little more than a decade to become governor of Tennessee, a major general in the United States Army, and the first president of the Republic of Texas. Houston’s impassioned belief in America’s westward expansion and his talent with a sword, one historian wrote, “altered the destiny of a continent.” It was Sam Houston who would lead the U.S. Army to victory at the Battle of San Jacinto in 1836, vanquishing Mexican general Santa Anna and redrawing the map of America.


But in 1823, Houston’s great deeds were yet to come. Instead, Webster, the elder statesman from Massachusetts, and Booth, the British actor, were teasing the young man about which type of oratory he would bring to the floor of Congress in his freshman efforts. Webster, one drinker remembered, “professed chagrin that the Tennessean should prefer the manner of Booth, while the tragedian affected disappointment because so promising a pupil had selected Webster for his model.” An impromptu display of public speaking followed. In years to come, Booth and Houston would enact this scene together many times over in different saloons. Witnesses said the men always seemed as intoxicated by the words they recited as by the brandy they consumed.


“Now Booth, let’s have a speech to liberty—one of those apostrophes to old Roman freedom,” the inebriated Houston would cry. The actor always obliged, witnesses said, leaping to his feet to perform for his friend “those electric passages in defense of liberty with which the English drama abounds.” Houston, whose “spirit seemed to take fire” at Booth’s words, repeated every line Junius delivered, copying the actor’s gestures and intonations exactly. Later, when the Tennessean delivered a stirring speech to the House of Representatives, Booth pushed his way through the admiring crowd to embrace him. “Houston,” the actor reportedly said, “take my laurels.”


A friendship was born in 1823 between Houston and Booth that would have important consequences for the actor’s family. As their paths continued to cross in the ensuing years, the Tennessean’s hard-drinking habits rubbed off on the actor. Sam Houston was chief among the “bad company” Sol Smith blamed for introducing Booth to liquor. The bond between these two “great cronies,” as one newspaper described the pair, had another result as well. Decades later, after time and distance had dimmed the intensity of their relationship, Booth spent hours regaling his impressionable sons, Edwin and John Wilkes, with tales of the frontiersman’s superhuman exploits. In 1888, a few years before he died, an ailing Edwin Booth traveled to San Antonio to seek out General Houston’s daughter. His pilgrimage was “prompted,” Edwin said, “by a desire to meet the daughter of the man who had been the hero of so many of his father’s anecdotes.” Admirers called Sam Houston a “magnificent barbarian.” Junius Brutus Booth declared in his diary that his beloved friend was nothing less than a “singular genius.” This American original would replace Booth’s former idols, Lord Byron and Percy Shelley, and Booth’s family would suffer the results.


In November 1827, Sam Houston received word in his rooms at the Nashville Inn that he had been elected governor of Tennessee. It was a week later, when Junius Brutus Booth arrived by steamboat to give a string of performances in Nashville’s New Theatre, that the pair likely rekindled their association. Thereafter, whenever Booth met up with the governor on his regular dramatic tours between Cincinnati and New Orleans, Houston was the British man’s personal guide to the colorful, dangerous world of the American frontier.


That year, the farthest reach of U.S. authority was a tiny garrison at Little Rock, in what is now Arkansas. Most of the land west of the Mississippi River was unincorporated territory, the property of Mexico, or Indian lands occupied by Shawnee, Choctaw, Osage, and Cherokee. In the late 1820s, pioneers traversed America’s sparsely populated western holdings on three major rivers—the Cumberland, the Ohio, and the Mississippi. The watershed of these rivers created a slow-winding, two-thousand-mile path leading from Pennsylvania—with stops in Tennessee, Kentucky, Indiana, Illinois, Missouri, and Mississippi—all the way to Louisiana. In his history Life on the Mississippi, Mark Twain recalled, the waterways “were an awful solitude then.”


In 1828, a nineteen-year-old Abraham Lincoln joined a crowd of Mississippi bargers and flatboatmen, river laborers who favored a uniform of flannel shirts, leather leggings, moccasins, and red sashes. He and another youth together guided a raft stacked with corn and barrels of salt pork from Little Pigeon Creek, Indiana, to New Orleans. The journey took the young men nearly two months, but Junius Brutus Booth and the governor of Tennessee were able to cover the same route by steamboat in less than three weeks. These “ungainly water buildings” had evolved since Junius and Mary Ann’s 1821 ride on Powhatan. Now three stories high and fantastically adorned with carpets, cupolas, and filigreed railings, a single steamboat might convey thousands of cotton bales and hundreds of passengers with ease. By the 1840s they would dominate the shipping on the Mississippi.
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